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Estate/ Court File No. 31-2131992 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO 
MAKE A PROPOSAL OF SHOP .. CA NETWORK INC., a 
corporation incorporated pursuant to the lavvs of the Canada, 
with a head office in the City of Toronto, in the Province of 
Ontario 

NOTICE OF MOTION 
(Motion for Approval of the Bid Process and Administration Order and Extension of 

Proposal Period) 

(Returnable June 9., 2016) 

SHOP.CA Network Inc. ("SHOP.CA") will rr1ake a motion to a judge presiding over 

the Comn1ercial List, on Thursday June 9, 2016, at 10:00 a.m. or as soon after that time as the 

motion can be heard, at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard orally. 

TI-lE MOTION IS FOR: 

1. An Order (the "Bid Process and Administration Order"), substantially in the form of 

the draft order located at Tab 3 of SHOP.CA' s Motion Record, inter alia: 
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(a) Abridging the time for delivery of this Notice of Motion and the Motion 

Record, if necessary; 

(b) Approving the a court-supervised sale process in respect of the business and 

assets of SHOP.CA (the "Bid Process") set out in paragraph 29 - 33 of the 

First Report (the "First Report") of Richters Advisory Group Inc., in its 

capacity as proposal trustee of SHOP.CA (the "Proposal Trustee"); 

(c) Ratifying the Key Employee Retention Agreements (the "KERAs") attached 

as Confidential Exhibit A to the Affidavit of Robert S. Lee sworn on June 8, 

2016 ("Lee Mfidavit") and authorizing SHOP.CA to pay an amount equal to 

the incentive payments set out in the KERAs to Stikeman Elliott LLP, as 
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counsel for SHOP.CA, ("Company's Counsel") to be held in trust for the 

beneficiaries of the KERAs pending satisfaction of the conditions contained in 

the KERAs as detern1ined by the Proposal Trustee or further Order of this 

Court; 

(d) Sealing the unredacted copies of the KERAs; 

(e) Granting a first ranking charge on all of SHOP.CA' s assets, property and 

undertakings (the "Property") up to a maximum amount of $200,000, in 

favour of the Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee and counsel to 

SI iOP.CA (the "Administration Charge"); and 

(t) Extending the time for SHOP.CA to file a proposal (the "Proposal Period") 

under the Bmzkruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the 

"BIA") until July 15, 2016. 

2. Such other relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate. 

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE: 

BACKGROUND 

1. SI IOP.CA is an e-cornmerce marketplace providing Canadian retailers with a 

platform to sell their products online directly to consumers. 

2. SHOP.CA has been exploring strategic alternatives, including the possibility of a sale 

of substantially all its assets or share capital, since August, 2015. 

3. After an extended informal sales process SHOP.CA has been unable to execute a 

suitable transaction for the benefit SHOP.CA' s stakeholders and is currently suffering from 

severe liquidity constraints. 

4. On June 7, 2016 SHOP.CA filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal (the "NOI") 

under the BIA and commenced these proposal proceedings. 
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APPROVAL OF THE BID PROCESS 

5. Recently, in the informal sales process SHOP.CA received three non-binding letters of 

intent indicating an interest in purchasing SHOP.CA's share capital or assets. 

6. After a period of exclusive negotiations with one potential purchaser the parties vvere 

unable to develop an actionable transaction. 

7. With SHOP.CA's current liquidity situation it will be unable to meet its obligations as 

they becmne due and SHOP.CA cannot afford to continue exploring potential sale 

transactions outside of an insolvency proceeding. 

8. It is believed that the conduct of the Bid Process in the context of these proposal 

proceedings constitutes the best option for the realization of its assets and the maximization 

of their valul' for the benefit of SHOP.CA' s stakeholders. 

APPROVAL OF THE KERAS 

9. Throughout these proceedings, SHOP.CA 'Will require the continued services of 

certain key employees in order to enhance the chances of successfully completing a 

transaction resulting from the Bid Process. 

10. The KERAs offer an incentive payment for meeting certain milestones set out therein 

and will incentivize the key employees to stay with SHOP.CA and assist the Proposal 

Trustee by soliciting offers from potential purchasers, negotiating with potential purchasers 

and assisting with other issues that will arise during the Bid Process. 

11. Absent the approval of the KERAs there is concern that the key employees would 

leave prior to the completion of the Bid Process which would be of significant negative effect 

on the business of SHOP.CA and the conduct of the Bid Process. 

12. In order to ensure there is sufficient funds to pay the incentive payments 

contemplated by the KERAs after completion of the Bid Process, SHOP.CA is seeking to pay 

an amount equal to the incentive payments to Company's Counsel to be held in trust for the 

beneficic:~ries of the KERAs. 
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SEALING ORDER 

13. The information contained m the KERAs is commercially sensitive and involves 

private personal infonnation which if disclosed would be detrimental to the beneficiaries of 

the KERAs. 

14. The sealing order will not prejudice SHOP.CA's stakeholders. 

THE ADMINISTRATION CHARGE 

15. SHOP.CA is seeking a first-ranking Administration Charge on the Property in the 

maximum amount of $200,000 to secure the reasonable fees and disbursement of the 

Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee and Company's Counsel incurred in 

connection with services rendered to the SHOP.CA both before and after the filing of the 

NO I. 

16. SHOP.CA will require the participation of the Proposal Trustee, the Proposal 

Trustee's legal counsel and Company's Counsel to assist in with the Bid Process and close 

any transaction resulting therefrom. 

17. Sl IOP.Ci\ does not have any secured creditors who may have been prejudiced by the 

Administration Charge. 

EXTENSION OF THE PROPOSAL PERIOD 

18. The Bid Process is anticipated to proceed through June 30, 2016, with proposed 

timelines extending into July in order to facilitate a transaction. 

19. SHOP.CA requires that the Proposal Period resulting from the filing of the NOI to be 

extended until July 15, 2016 in order to allow (i) SHOP.CA to carry out the Bid Process; (ii) 

negotiate any transaction resulting from the Bid Process; and (iii) contemplate the tenns of a 

proposal to be submitted to SHOP.CA's creditors. 

20. The extension of the Proposal Period will assist SHOP.CA in maximizing the value of 

its assets for the benefit of its stakeholders. 
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21. SHOP.CA has been acting and continues to act in good faith and with due diligence 

during these proceedings. 

22. No creditor of SHOP.CA will be n1aterially prejudiced by extending the Proposal 

Period as SHOP.CA has sufficient liquidity to continue operating during the proposed 

extension of the Proposal Period. 

23. It is just and convenient and in the interest of SHOP.CA and its stakeholders that the 

Proposal Period be extended to July 15, 2016. 

GENERAL 

24. Sections 50.4(9), 64.2, 65.13, 183 of the BIA and the other provisions of the BIA; 

25. Rules 1.04, 1.05, 2.03, 3.02 and 37 of the Rules c:F Clull Procedu r!', R.R.O. 1990 Reg. 1 Sl4, 

as amended; 

26. Section 137(2) of the Courts c:f Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c C. 43; and 

27. Such further grounds as counsel may advise and this Court may permit. 

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the 

motion: 

1. The Lee Affidavit and the exhibits thereto; 

2. The First Report of the Proposal Trustee; and 

3. Such further and other material as counsel may advise and this Court may permit. 
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Estate/Court File No. 31-2131992 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO 
MAKE A PROPOSAL OF SHOP.CA NETWORK INC., a 
corporation incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Canada, 
with a head office in the City of Toronto, in the Province of 
Ontario 

AFFIDAVIT OF ROBERTS. LEE 
(Sworn June 8, 2016 re Approval of the Bid Process and Administration Order and 

Extension of Proposal Period) 

I, Robert S. Lee, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH AND 

SAY: 

1. I ain the Chief Financial Officer of SHOP.CA Netvvork Inc. ("SHOP.CA" or the 

"Company") and as such have knowle~ige of the n1atters to -vvhich I hereinafter depose, except 

where otherwise stated. I have also reviewed the records and filings of the Company and have 

spoken with certain of the officers and/ or employees of the Con1pany, as necessary, and -vvhere 

I have relied upon such information, I verily believe such information to be true. 

2. This affidavit is sworn in support of the motion brought by SHOP.CA seeking an Order 

(the "Bid Process and Administration Order"), substantially in the form of the draft order 

located at Tab 3 of SHOP.CA' s Motion Record, illter rzlirz: 

(a) Approving the court-supervised sale process for SHOP.CA (the "Bid Process") 

set out in paragraphs 29 - 33 of the First Report (the "First Report") of Richter 

Advisory Group Inc., in its capacity as proposal trustee of SHOP.CA (the 

"Proposal Trustee"); 
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(b) Ratifying the Key Employee Retention Agreen1ents (the "KERAsu and 

individually, a "KERA11
) attached hereto as Confidential Exhibit "A" and 

authorizing SHOP.CA to pay an an1ount equal to the Incentive Payments (as 

defined below) set out in the KERAs to Stikeman Elliott LLP, as counsel for 

SHOP.CA (11Company's Counsel"), to be held in trust for the beneficiaries of the 

KERAs pending satisfaction of the conditions contained in the KERAs as 

determined by the Proposal Trustee or further Order of tllis Court; 

(c) Sealing the unredacted copies of the KERAsi 

(d) Granting a first ranking charge on all of SHOP.CA's assets, property and 

undertakings (the "Property") up to a maximum amount of $2001000, in favour 

of the Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee and Company's Counsel 

(the" Administration Charge"); and 

(e) Extending the time for SHOP.CA to file a proposal (the "Proposal Period") 

under the Bmzknlptcy and InsolvenClJ Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the 

"BIA") until July 15, 2016. 

THE BUSINESS OF SHOP.CA 

Overview 

3. SHOP.CA is an e-comn1erce marketplace providing Canadian retailers \vith a piatforn1 

to sell their products online directly to consumers. SHOP.CA was incorporated in September, 

2009, and currently has a network of 450 merchants offering over 250 .. 000 products on 

SHOP.CA's platform. The Company's head office is located at 70 Peter Street .. Toronto, Ontario. 
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4. SHOP.CA has experienced rapid growth since its founding, generating 133% annual 

growth in membership and 190% annual growth in number of visits to its website, 

www.shop.ca (the ~~"\tVebsite"). However .. due to competitive factors and significant expenses 

associated with the growth, SHOP.CA has experienced financial difficulties and has been 

operating at a loss since its founding. 

5. SHOP.CA's business is to act as a multi-merchant, virtual marketplace offering 

Canadian consumers a one-stop online shopping experience for products from premium and 

recognizable brands. SHOP.CA currently focuses on four product categories: home products, 

electronics, fashion and baby and children products. It also carries supporting products to 

ensure it is a one-stop shopping destination. SHOP.CA' s platform is capable of expanding its 

product offerings based on its current merchant partners' supply and consun1er demand. 

6. SHOP.CA does not currently maintain an inventory position of the products that are 

bought and sold on the Website. Rather, retailers list their products on the Website and 

SHOP.CA purchases the inventory from the merchant only after receiving an order from a 

customer. The inventory is purchased at a previously agreed upon cost with each n1erchant. 

Each merchant is responsible for shipping and fulfillment of orders; however, each retailer's 

fulfillment technology is connected \Vith SHOP.CA' s platform to ensure the consumer has a 

smooth shopping experience. From the consumer's perspective, their only interaction with 

respect to their purchases is with SHOP.CA includin~ con1munkation regarding their order 

placement, delivery and any returns or refunds that are required. 
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NOI Proceedings 

7. As further described herein, due to current liquidity constraints, SHOP.CA filed a Notice 

of Intention to Make a Proposal (the "NOI") under the BIA and commenced these proposal 

proceedings on June 7, 2016. 

8. The Company has been attempting to find further financing and/or sell the business as 

a going concern since August 2015. These efforts have not been successful to date, including a 

recent attempt to sell the Company to an established Canadian retailer. SHOP.CA wishes to 

pursue a final attempt to sell the Company as a going concern and believes it is only able to do 

so with the Court protection provided by the NOI and these proposal proceedings. 

Corporate Govenzcmce 

9. Trevor Newelt Drew Green and Tony Chvala are the only ren1aining directors of 

SHOP.CA. Over the last eight weeks, six other directors have resigned from the board of 

SHOP.CA (the ''Board"). 

10. The requisite shareholder and director approvals have been obtained to authorize the 

filing of the NOL 

Employees 

11. SHOP.CA currently has 40 employees and one person, the Chief Executive Offer, 

working under a consulting arrangement. The majority of SHOP.CA"s employees are full time 

salaried employees. In October 2015, in order to reduce labour expenses, the Con1pany laid off 

approximately 28 employees. The Company has also reduced its workforce through attrition. In 

2016, 10 employees have left SHOP.CA and the Company has only hired an additional 5 

employees. 

12. SHOP.CA does not have a union and does not sponsor any pension plans. 
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Assets 

13. SHOP,CA's assets, as reflected in its unaudited quarterly financial statements as at April 

30,2016, had a net book value of approximately $4.055 rn.illion and consisted of the following: 

As at April,2016 
Assets 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Taxes Receivable 
Prepaid Expenses 

h1arketing 
Teclmology 
Rent 
Insurance/ Other 

Non-current Assets 
Property and equipment 
Intangible assets 

($000s) 

2,253 
213 
38 
78 

32 
141 

21 
14 

$4,055 

14. SHOP.CA most significant asset at the end of the quarter was cash and cash equivalents. 

The cash on hand was the result of series of equity financings completed between 2011 and 2015 

which raised over $70 million for the Company. Most recently in l\1ay 2015, SHOP.CA raised 

approximately $13 million by issuing Series C con1mon shares to existing investors in a private 

placement. 

15. SHOP.CA has been funding its losses from the cash remaining from the equity capital 

raises. As at June 5, 2016, the Company had approximately $1.5 million in cash remaining, 

down from $2.3 million on April 30, 2016. With the current projected cash expenses, SHOP.CA 

is forecasted to deplete all its cash reserves by August, 2016. 

16. SHOP.CA's intangible assets consist of its goodwill, domain name, teclmology and 

intellectual property associated with the development of its unique platform. 
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Liabilities 

17. As at April 30, 2016, SHOP.CA had total liabilities of approximately $1.99 million 

consisting of the following: 

As at April, 2016 
Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 

Trade payables and accrued 
liabilities 
Taxes Payable 
Customer Payments (Order to 
Ship) 
Returns & Re\vards Liability 

($000s) 

$1,478 

78 

250 

181 
$1,988 

18. SHOP.CA's trade payables typically have terms of "net 15"meaning SHOP.CA pays its 

merchants within 15 days of purchasing the inventory after receiving an order from a customer. 

As at April 30, 2016, SHOP.CA's trade payables and accruals totalled approximately $1.5 

million and as at June 2, 2016, SHOP.CA was current on all trade payables owed to merchants. 

19. SHOP.CA accrual liabilities reflected on the balance sheet consist of a provision for 

returns by custon1ers and accrued vacation for employees. 

20. SHOP.CA has contingent liabilities that are not reflected on the balance sheet consisting 

of potential termination and severance obligations owed to employees and contractual 

termination liabilities. These contingent liabilities are estimated to total up to $2 million. If all 

current, future and contingent liabilities were to crystallize during the upcoming days, the 

Company would be unable to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Company 

is effectively in the vicinity of insolvency and without the stabilization and breathing space 

provided by the NOI, the Company will continue to deplete all its cash resources preventing 

any going~concem solution or even an orderly wind-up or dissolution. 
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21. SHOP.CA does not have any long term liabilities or secured debt. Attached hereto as 

Exhibit "B" is a Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) search result for SHOP.CA as at June 5, 

2016. The only registration showing 1.vas made by the Toronto-Dominion Bank ("TD Bank"). I 

am not aware of any indebtedness owed to TD Bank other than in respect the Company's credit 

card facility. TD Bank provided a letter of credit on behalf of SHOP.CA but the letter of credit 

was cancelled in the fall of 2015. 

Key Co11tracts a11d Suppliers 

22. A significant source of customer acquisition for SHOP.CA has been its exclusive 

strategic partnership with AI!v1IA Canada Inc. (" Aeroplan"). Aeroplan runs a loyalty program 

allowing consumers to accumulate "Aeroplan Iviiles" on certain purchases with a variety of 

retail partners. In 2014, Aeroplan and SHOP.CA developed an agreement whereby customers 

are able to receive Aeroplan Miles for purchases on the \Vebsite and SHOP.CA pays Aeroplan a 

specific rate for each Aeroplan Mile distributed to consumers. The relationship is important for 

SHOP.CA as Aeroplan has a developed relation \Vith over 9 million consumers in Canada and a 

percentage of consumers referred to the vVebsite by Aeroplan are converted into repeat 

customers of SHOP.CA. 

23. As mentioned, SHOP.CA maintains its head office at 70 Peter Street, Toronto Ontario. 

SHOP.CA leases the premises from Allied Property l\1anagement GP Limited (the ~~Landlord") 

under a Lease Renewal and Amending Agreement dated August 18, 2015 (the "Lease"). The 

term under the Lease expires on March 31, 2019 and monthly rent payable to the Landlord 

under the Lease is $18,557 plus applicable taxes. The Company is current with its obligations 

under the Lease. 
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Finaucial Difficulties 

24. Despite significant revenue growth since founding, SHOP.CA has not been able to 

generate positive cash flow to sustain the business on a long term basis. SHOP.CA has been 

financed by a series of equity capital raises which have been funding the Company's losses 

since inception. Copies of SHOP.CA's audited financial statements for 2014 and unaudited 

financial statements for 2015 are attached hereto as Exhibits "Cu and "DT/, respectively. 

25. In 2014 and 2015, SHOP.CA generated net operating losses of $21.9 million and $19.9 

million, respectively. Cumulative losses since SHOP.CA's founding are over $72 million. The 

losses and Company's inability to raise additional financing have severely constrained 

SHOP.CA's liquidity recently. 

26. In order to stabilize cash flows and in1plement a final attempt to complete a b·ansaction 

to maintain the Company as a going-concern, SHOP.CA filed the NO!. 

SAl,ES PROCESS 

27. In August 2015, due to competitive factors and its financial difficulties, SHOP.CA 

started exploring strategic alternatives, including the possibility of a sale of substantially all its 

assets or share capital (the nsales Process"). SHOP.CA engaged Scotia Capital Inc. ("Scotia") 

and Canaccord Genuity Corp. (Canaccord") to assist SHOP.CA in its strategic review and 

approach potential purchasers and investors for SHOP.CA's business. Though Scotia \Vas 

initially engaged, its role did not continue as the banker mandated with the engagement 

resigned from Scotia. 

28. Canaccord approached approximately 25 potential purchasers over the duration of the 

Sales Process. Canaccord also explored the possibility of obtaining additional financing. 
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29. Numerous parties expressed an interest in acquiring the Company and in April, 2016, 

SHOP.CA received tvvo non-binding letters of intent to purchase the common shares of the 

Company. Despite attempts, SHOP.CA and the potential purchasers were unable to develop an 

actionable transaction. After a transaction failed to materialize with those potential purchasers 

Canaccord resigned from its role in the Sales Process. 

30. Starting May 2016, Tony Chvala, the Chief Executive Officer of SHOP.CA, approached 

17 potential purchasers in an effort to develop an actionable transaction outside an insolvency 

proceeding. Some of the potential purchasers had been approached by Canaccord in the earlier 

1narketing initiative, while others were approached for the first time. I also understand that the 

Chief Executive Officer canvassed existing investors regarding the possibility of providing 

additional financing to SHOP.CA. The Proposal Trustee acted as financial advisor to the 

Company during this initiative in the Sales Process but was not actively involved in soliciting 

offers or negotiations with potential purchasers. 

31. After initial solicitations by management, SHOP.CA did not receive any indications of 

interest in respect of providing financing to SHOP.CA but did receive three non-binding letters 

of intent indicating an interest in purchasing SHOP.CA's share capital or assets. Each letter of 

intent required a period of exclusive negotiations with the potential purchasers. The Board, 

with input from the Company's legal and financial advisors .. evaluated the proposals and 

subsequently entered into an ll~day exclusivity period with the purchaser offering the highest 

value and minimal closing conditions relative to the other bids. Again, despite efforts, a 

transaction failed to materialize. 

32. With the Company's current liquidity situation, SHOP.CA cannot afford to continue the 

current Sales Process of exploring potential sale transactions outside of an insolvency 
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proceeding. The Bid Process contemplated to be completed in the context of these proposal 

proceedings is outlined at paragraphs 29 to 33 of the First Report. 

33. The Bid Process has the following key features: 

(a) The Proposal Trustee will distribute a teaser letter and a form of non­

disclosure agreement to a list of potential purchasers developed in conjunction 

'vi tl1 the Con1pan y. 

(b) Interested bidders wishing to participate in the Bid Process will be given 

access to an electronic data-room after signing the non-disclosure agreement 

(c) Interested bidders are required to submit final binding offers on a "as is, 

where is" basis to the Proposal Trustee by June 30, 2016 at 12pm (the 11 Bid 

Deadline") and in addition, interested bidders \Vill be required to pay a 10% 

deposit to the Proposal Trustee. 

(d) Acceptability of each offer will be determined by the Proposal Trustee, in 

consultation of the Company. 

(e) The Proposal Trustee will provide its recorrunendation to the Board with 

respect to selecting an offer to consummate a transaction. 

(f) If a bid is accepted by the Board and the Proposal Trustee, it will be 

brought before the Court for approval and closing 'viii occur as soon as practical 

thereafter. 
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34. The proposed Bid Process offers the maximum amount of time to consun1mate a 

transaction given the Company's current liquidity situation and current inability to access 

bridge financing because of its lack of tangible assets to offer as security. 

35. In the circumstances, the Board and SHOP.CA' s management believe the Bid Process in 

the context of these proposal proceedings constitutes the best option for the realization of the 

Company's assets and the maximization of their value for the benefit of SHOP.CA's 

stakeholders. 

KEY EMPLOYEE RETENTION AGREEMENTS 

36. After the resignation of Canaccord, management was left in charge of the Sales Process 

significantly increasing their day to day responsibilities. Further, with the Company's current 

liquidity situation, the Board believed additional incentives were needed to ensure 

managemenf s continued willingness to assist in the Sales Process. 

37. On 1v1ay 6, 2016, SHOP.CA entered into the KERAs with the Chief Executive Officer, 

Chief Technology Officer and I. Redacted copies of the KERAs, which contain commercially 

sensitive and private personal information, are attached hereto as Confidential Exhibit I(A11
• 

38. An independent director (who has since resigned), with oversight of the Proposal 

Trustee, developed the KERAs. All of the KERAs contemplate incentive payments (the 

ulncentive Payments") of between 3 and 6 months of salary. The aggregate of the Incentive 

Payments payable under the KERAs is approximately $210,000, after converting US dollar 

amounts to Canadian dollars. On my and the Chief Technology Officer's KERAs, the Incentive 

Payments are payable upon the completion of the earliest of the following events: (a) 

completion of a Change of Control (as defined in the KERAs) or a liquidation of all or 

substantially all of the assets of SHOP.CA; or (b) implementation of a proposal under the BIA, 

approved as required and sanctioned by the Court. Under the Chief Executive Officer's KERA, 
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the Incentive Payment becon1es due upon completion of review and analysis of bids submitted 

in the Bid Process. The Chief Executive Officer has agreed to remain as a director throughout 

the proposal proceedings. The amendment was granted in exchange for the Chief Executive 

Officer1s agreement to reduce the quantum of the Incentive Payment and forego any payment 

on account services rendered for acting as an officer or director of the Company after June 30, 

2016 in order to assist the Companis liquidity. 

39. In order for the beneficiaries of the KERAs to receive the Incentive Payments, the 

employee ca1mot have: (a) disclosed the terms of the KERA (other than to his or her personal 

representative, legal advisors or as required by law); or (b) at any time on or before the date any 

portion the Incentive Payments are due and payable as contemplated under the KERA (i) 

resigned; {ii) been tern1inated for cause; or (iii) failed to perform his/her duties diligently, 

faithfully and honestly. 

40. The KERAs also contemplated a success payment if a transaction could be con1pleted 

outside of an insolvency proceeding. Upon the filing of the NOI, the success payments 

contemplated by the KERAs are no longer applicable. 

41. In order to secure the Incentive Payments contemplated by the KERAs, SHOP.CA is 

seeking to pay funds adequate to satisfy the Incentive Payments (minus deferred amounts) to 

Company's Counsel to be held in trust for the beneficiaries of the KERAs. Without the Incentive 

Payments being secured in this manner there is concern that the beneficiaries of the KERAs 

would leave prior to the contpletion of the Bid Process which would have a significant negative 

effect to SHOP.CA and its stakeholders. If the conditions in the KERAs are not satisfied after 10 

days subsequent to the Proposal Period, Company's Counsel will remit the funds held in trust 

to the Proposal Trustee for the benefit of SHOP.CA" s general creditors. 
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ADMINISTRATION CHARGE 

42. SHOP.CA is seeking a first ranking charge on the Property of SHOP.CA in the 

rnaxin1un1 amount of $200,000 to secure the fees and disbursen1ents of the Proposal Trustee, 

counsel for the Proposal Trustee and Con1pany's Counsel incurred in connection with the 

services rendered to SHOP.CA both before and after the filing of the NOI. 

43. I believe that the Administration Charge is necessary in order to complete the Bid 

Process and close any transaction resulting therefrom. 

44. SHOP.CA has worked with the Proposal Trustee to estimate the proposed quantum of 

the Administration Charge and believes it to be reasonable and appropriate in view of the 

services to be provided by the beneficiaries of the Administration Charge. 

EXTENSION OF THE PROPOSAL PROCEEDINGS 

45. The Bid Deadline set out in the Bid Process is currently contemplated to be June 30, 2016 

witl1 each bid remaining open for acceptance 10 days after the Bid Deadline. SHOP.CA will 

require further time after the acceptance of any bid in order to close the transaction. 

46. Extending the Proposal Period to July 15, 2016 \vill allow SHOP.CA to (a) complete the 

Bid Process; (b) negotiate any transaction resulting from the Bid Process and seek Court­

approval of the transaction; and (c) contemplate, in consultation "vith the Proposal Trustee, the 

terms of a proposal to be submitted to SHOP.CA' s creditors. The extension will also prevent 

additional motions before the Court, reducing professional fees incurred by SHOP.CA. 

47. I am not aware of any creditors who would be materially prejudice by the extension of 

the Proposal Period to July 15, 2016. The cash flow forecast attached as Appendix "D" to the 

First Report reflects that the Company has sufficient liquidity to continue operating throughout 

the proposed extension of the Proposal Period. 



48. I understand that the Proposal Trustee is supportive of the request to extend the 

Proposal Period. 

CONCLUSION 

49. SHOP.CA has been operating at a loss since its inception and been unable to develop 

positive cash flow to supports its business long-term. With the Company's current liquidity 

situation, SHOP.CA is seeking a final atte1npt to preserve the business as a going-concern by 

exploring sale opportunities within the context of these proposal proceedings. \Nith the relief 

granted in the Bid Process and Administration Order, SHOP.CA will be able to conduct the Bid 

Process in order to maximize the value of its business and assets for the benefit of its 

stakeholders. 

50. This affidavit is sworn in support of a m.otion for the Bid Process and Administration 

Order and for no other or improper purpose. 

SWORN BEFORE tv1E at the City of 
Toronto, Province of Ontario, on June 
8, 2016. 
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itligHOP•CA 
70 Peter Street, Suite 200 
Toronto, ON, M5V 205 

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL May 6, 2016 

RE: bscentive Payment 

As SHOP.CA  Networks Inc. ("SHOP.CA") moves ahead with its salts efforts, I would 
like to assure you that your contributions continue to be highly valued. We truly appreciate your 
continued hard work and importance to SHOP.C.A as 11111 11111, particularly at this 
critical time. 

In consideration of your ongoing loyalty to SHOP.CA , SHOP.CA is offering you an 
incentive payment in the amount of 	(the "Incentive Payment"). The Incentive 
Payment will be payable upon the earliest of the following events (the "Payment Date"): (a) 
completion of a Change of Control (as defined below) or the liquidation of all or substantially all 
of the assets of SHOP.CA ; and (b) completion of the implementation of a proposal or plan of 
compromise or arrangement under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, the Canada 
Business Corporations Act or the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), approved as required 
and sanctioned by the Court (each a "Court Proceeding"). 

In addition, in the event of a Change of Control, should SHOP.CA  not require recourse to 
any Court Proceeding. SHOP.CA  shall pay you a success fee calculated at =of the 
Transaction Value in cash. provided that there are sufficient proceeds remaining to satisfy all 
creditors (other than those who are entitled to transaction fees under retention arrangements 
similar to yours). Should there not be sufficient proceeds to pay all Transaction Fees payable to 
you hereunder and to other recipients of transaction fees under similar retention arrangements. 
the recipients of such transaction fees (including you) shall be entitled to their pro rate share of all 
remaining proceeds after payment of the other priority and unsecured creditors. For the purpose 
of this agreement, "Change of Control" means, whether effected in one transaction or a series of 
transactions: (a) any merger, amalgamation, consolidation, reorganization or other business 
combination pursuant to which the business of SHOP.CA is combined with that of a purchaser, 
or (b) the acquisition, directly or indirectly, by a purchaser of all or a majority of the capital stock 
of SHOP.CA or the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of SHOP.CA by way of a 
negotiated purchase or otherwise; and "Transaction Value" means the aggregate cash 



consideration paid or payable to SHOP.CA or to its security holders and the aggregate fair market 
value of any securities or other non-cash consideration paid or payable to SHOP.CA or to its 
security holders {inc!odiug, any joint venture interest delivered tol or retained by, SHOP.CA) in 
connection with a Change of Control. 

Amounts outlined above will be included in ca.shflows provided to Richter Advisory 
Group Inc. Should SHOP.CA commence any Court Proceedings Jn connection with a potentia! 
transaction, liquidation or winding up of its business, it will seek approval of the lncentiv~ 
Payment and a related charge on SHOP.CA' assets on the commencemeot of such Court 
Proceedings. 

AU amounts being paid will be subject to all applicable statutory deductions. 
In order to receive the amollllt descrlb«< above: (a) you must not have disclosed these 

arrangements to ~:l person other than your personal representatives and lega1 advisors {other 
than any disclosure required by law): (b) on the Payment Date, you must not have (i) resigned or 
notified SHOP.CA of your resignation; (ii) been terminated or notified of termination, for any 
reason! with cause; or (iii) at any times between now and closing of the Payment Date, failed to 
perfonn your duties and responsibilities diligently, faithfully and honestly~ and (c) you must 
have. at all times between now and the Payment Date. ~rformed your duties as an employee of 
SHOP.CA in a manner (to the extent under your reasonable control) that facilitates the closing of 
any Change of Control or the liquidation of a1) o.r substantial!y all of the assets of SHOP.CA and 
maximizes the proceeds to SHOP.CA or iu sha.rehoJders. For clarity t no period of notice that 
was given or ought to have been given pursuant to contract or a1 common Jaw shall be used to 
ex. tend any rights to you under this letter. For greater certainty~ if you are tenninated without 
cause, you will be entitled to receive the amount described above provided all of the other 
conditions for payments have otherwise been met. 

If any one or more of the conditions described above are not satisfied, then the portion of 
the Incentive Payment corresponding to any unsatisfied condition will not be paid. 

For greater certainty, the decision to enter into a Change of Control shall be m.a.de by the 
board of SHOP.CA (the uBo.ardn) taking lnto account all relevant factors, including the purchase 
price offered by auy such potential pu~haser. The Board may but is under no obligation to 
complete a Change of Con~l. Tbe Board•s decision with respect to a Change of Control shaJl be 
final and binding and you shall have oo claim agalnst the Board or SHOP.CA in respect of such 
decision. 

Thank you again for your assistance. 

Yours truly. 

/;'"":7.-2./ ~.,< _,...,..,,¢'.:f-"7'-' 

Trevor J. Newell. president 

cc: Elizabeth Pilloo and Martin Langlois. Stikeman Elliott UP 
Paul van Ey~. Richrer Advisory Group Inc. 



-June 7, 2016 Amendment 

In an effort to assist with the Company's financial circumstances, you have agreed to 
a reduction of of the Incentive Payment, unless there is an asset or share sale 
completed within the NOI Proceedings contemplated by the Company. Your Incentive 
Payment as referred to herein shall be reduced to payable on the Payment Dates 
referred to herein. In the event the Company is able to complete an asset or share sale 
withln the NOI Proceedings~ an additional payment of being the deferred Incentive 
Payment, will be payable to you from any sales proceeds received from the Company. 

Such Amendment acknowledged and agreed to this ~ day of June, 2016. 

657al12 v1 



HOP•CA 
70 Peter Street, Suite 200 
Toronto, ON, WV 205 

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL May 6, 2016 

RE: Incentive Payment 

As SHOP.CA Networks Inc. ("SHOP.CA") moves ahead with its sales efforts, I would 
like to assure you that your contributions continue to be hi t valued. We truly appreciate your 
continued hard work and importance to SHOP.CA  as particularly at this 
critical time. 

In consideration of your ougoin lo al to SHOP.CA , SHOP.CA is offering you an 
incentive payment in the amount of 	 (the "Incentive Payment"). The Incentive 
Payment will be payable upon the earliest of the following events (the "Payment Date"): (a) 
completion of a Change of Control (as defined below) or the liquidation of all or substantially all 
of the assets of SHOP.CA; and (b) completion of the implementation of a proposal or plan of 
compromise or arrangement under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act, the Canada 
Business Corporations Act or the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), approved as required 
and sanctioned by the Court (each a "Court Proceeding"). 

In addition, in the event of a Change of Control, should SHOP.CA  not require recourse to 
any Court Proceeding, SHOP.CA shall pay you a success fee calculated at 	of the 
Transaction Value in cash, provided that there are sufficient proceeds remaining to satisfy all 
creditors (other than those who are entitled to transaction fees under retention arrangements 
similar to yours). Should there not be sufficient proceeds to pay all Transaction Fees payable to 
you hereunder and to other recipients of transaction fees under similar retention arrangements, 
the recipients of such transaction fees (including you) shall be entitled to their pro rata share of 
all remaining proceeds after payment of the other priority and unsecured creditors. For the 
purpose of this agreement, "Change of Control" means, whether effected in one transaction or a 
series of transactions: (a) any merger, amalgamation, consolidation, reorganization or other 
business combination pursuant to which the business of SHOP.CA is combined with that of a 
purchaser, or (b) the acquisition, directly or indirectly, by a purchaser of all or a majority of the 
capital stock of SHOP.CA  or the acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of SHOP.CA 
by way of a negotiated purchase or otherwise; and "Transaction Value" means the aggregate 
cash consideration paid or payable to SHOP.CA  or to its security holders and the aggregate fair 
market value of any securities or other non-cash consideration paid or payable to SHOP.CA  or to 



its security holders (including, any joint venture interest delivered tol or retained by, SHOP.CA) 
in connection with a Change of Control. 

Amounts outlined above will be included in cashflows provided to Richter Advisory 
Group Inc. Should SHOP.CA commence any Court Proceedings in connection with a potential 
transaction, liquidation or winding up of its business, it will seek approval of the Incentive 
Payment and a related charge on SHOP.CA' assets on the commencement of such Court 
Proceedings. 

All amounts being pa:id will be subject to all applicable statutory deductions. 
In order to receive the amount described above: (a) you must not have disclosed these 

arrangements to illlY person other than your personal representatives and legal advisors (other 
than any disclosure required by Jaw); (b) on the Payment Date, you must not have (i) resigned or 
notified SHOP.CA of your resignation; (ii) been terminated or notified of termination, for any 
reason, with cause; or (iii) at any times between now and closing of the Payment Date, failed to 
perfonn your duties and responsibilities diligently, faithfully and honestly; and (c) you must 
have. at all times between now and the Payment Date, performed your duties as an employee of 
SHOP.CA in a manner (to the extent under your reasonable control) that facilitates the closing of 
any Change of Control or the liquidation of all or substantially all of the assets of SHOP. CA and 
maximizes the proceeds to SHOP.CA or its shareholders. For clarity, no period of notice that 
was given or ought to have been given pursuant to contract or at common law shall be used to 
extend any rights to you under this letter. For greater certa.lnty, if you are terminated without 
cause) you will be entitled to receive the amount described above provided all of the other 
conditions for payments have otherwise been met. 

If any one or more of the conditions described above are not satisfied, then the portion of 
the Incentive Payment corresponding to any unsatisfied condition will not be paid. 

For greater certainty, the decision to enter into a Change of Control shall be made by the 
board of SHOP .CA (the "Board") taking into account all relevant factors, including the purchase 
price offered by any such potential purchaser, The Board may but is under no obligation to 
complete a Change of Control. The Board's decision with respect to a Change of Control shall be 
final and binding and you shall have no claim against the Board or SHOP .CA in respect of such 
decision. 

Thank you again for your assistance. 

Yours truly, 

Trevor J. Newell, president 

cc: Elizabeth Pillon and Martin Langlois~ Stikeman Elliott LLP 
Paul van Ey~ Richter Advisory Group Inc. 



-June 7, 2016 Amendment 

In an effort to assist with the Company's financial circumstances., you have agreed to: 

a) continue to assist with the Bid Process to be conducted by the Company and Richters, 
including the review and analysis of all bids received by the bid deadline of ]1me 30, 2016; 

b) ren1ain as a Director of SHOP.CA throughout the NOI Proceedings; 

c) reduce the quantum of the Incentive Payment referred to herein to •••• and 

d) forego any payment for services rendered to the Company as a Director or Officer, post 
June 30, 2016. 

In exchange for agreeing to such amendtnents, the Payment Date for the Incentive Payment 
referred to herein shall be amended to include: 

6570112 yJ 

"(c) completion of review and analysis of bids submitted in the 
proposed Bid Process, as at June 301 2016." 

Such Amendment acknowledged and agreed to this -~7_tl_1_~ day of June, 2016. 
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MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES 

PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM 
ENQUIRY RESPONSE 

CERTU'ICATE 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT A SEARCH HAS BEEN MADE IN THE RECORDS OF' THE CENTRAL OFI?ICE 
OF THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM IN RESPECT OF THE FOLLOWING: 

TYPE OF SEARCH BUSINESS DEBTOR 
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Independent Auditor'~ Rt:port 

r {' tlJ..:: Cluinnan and :vi<:mbers (lr 
tile i\udl! Con1mit!ce o! SHOP.C(\ ~';I.'\'-' i'H 1- lrll'. 

Oe:u tt::; LLP 
1 C~ty Cti;,tic Dn··~e 
~uite 500 
M'!·SSsauga Grl L -:iG 11.12 
C0nadil 

rt:~-.! ;5~001~615!J 

Fit~ ·i16~GC1~615l 
~~:t-;.v-1',"; de'ogte:~ :a 

\\ ~.? lhl\'c <~uditc,\ 1h..: ;iccnmpanying consulidatcd linam:ial stlnt•tncnb niSI !OP.C·\ Nl.:\\•.ork Inc.. \~l!kh 
c.:n:np1 i::>c the ;::on~nlid:~ll:d :-;wtcm<:nt~. \•!' llnan~.:l;d position a:-. ut Dr:c12mb;,;r 31. 201-1 <tnd :w I). ;md t!Ji.' 
con:-,dlidatcJ stclit:llH.:nh uf lo"s <~nd ctlnlpl't..:hcnsivc hiS:>. CO!bo!id:1kd ::.t;Hcmcnh nlch<tngt:~ in cqul!.\ <tnd 
L:t.lihulldmcd :-.t~iklnerns ofc;l;;;h !lo\\S ror the y('ar~ rhcn ended, and <1 :.,umlllilf) ol ~irniliL·<nii ;H:counting 
pn!i:.:ks. and other t.'!:\p!an~llory inron11ali(1n. 

1\land~~\.'n';.~m ii; n .. "-P•lil"iibk· !"nr illc: pr-:p;n:Jti(Jtl and l~dr pn.~:;·:nt<Jti1111 ~11"thc:..c colt:-olid;t!t..:d tin,:ncial 
;;t.Ht..'mt:nt'; in :Kc\1rd;1nct! with lntcrnalinn;\ll:in:mcial Rt:pt•rting Swndan:l:... and t<n ~uclJ imcrnal ePt1lrol 

~p, lllJl::tsl'HiC!ll dc1crulin0s b nccc:;:;:uy w rn:tbk til~ prq1:n·;niun of <:tm:-.o!idated iin:m..:ia! sl<HemcrH:, lhi!l 

ure free from ma!criJJ mi;;~t;n<:!lh.'il!, wh..:thcr du~...· 1(1 ihwd or errnr. 

Auditor':-; H:cspon-;ihilit) 

Our r:.::>ptliJSibility is l<l ...:\pr'c:>· an opinion PII lllL•-;.; consolid:Jled !inan;.:;i;1l :-;!;1\cmrms ha:.;.;:d on Otlr audit. 
\\' e t.:lmthr.:i~..:d our :!udit in .:u:1>rd:mcc \\ i1h C<tn<hl;~lll )p:.:lh.·r:d ly accepted auJiting swnd:1rds. Those 
".l;uld:m!s rl'quir..: rh:ll \\e l'DJ1ip1~· ·.dtlJ etlliL·a! rcquirt:mt:nh and plan and p!.!rl'urm the nudit h> ohllltn 
r<.';lsi•I1:!He a~;.;ur,nh.:c ~~tl(Jlll \\ il..c;hcr the comolidar;:d 11nancial ~tm~nH::nr~ t'd'c fre(' from matl'rial 
mis:-:ut:.:mcnt. 

i\!1 ;~~tdil im·p!\ :.:~ pc-ri'nrming prtll..'t'Jun::- w obtain ntidi~ ..:\·idL•m·~ abnur th-2 umoun!s ~tnd dist! .. )sun:s in 
th<.' l'Olt;-,olidat<.:d iin;m.;:i:ll .•)t:lh'tli~nts. 'l ht: p1 ''ct.'dtir..::> sek~l·~d d'-~r~nd oll the audi!N's judgnwnL 
im.:luding. th~.: as='~·s:.nh'nl l\l !IlL' risk~ uf matt•rial tnit;::;t~Hr.:mem of thc- Ct.>n::;u!i<.Llled finam:ial Slatr.:1ncnt:.-. 
whc:ther due. lo fraud "~r crrnr. ln making tlwse risk as:;.::-;:\mcms .. the nudirnr 1.:('1\~idcrs intern~\! control 
r~h:v;mt !(1 th·.: ~n!ity":;, pn:•p.Jiiliinn ,llld f:ltr pn..'St:'lltil1iOl1 o!' th(~ C(lf1SO!id~H...:d tin:un.;i~ll %Ht'lllt'l!tS in order 
to ~.k:iign ;~mlit pr<JCt:durL-<:-. tlr:n arc <lpproprintc in tlJ...: dn.:um:>WrK~'>, but nut !'or the purpn;.;~ ~)r cxpn:;-;sing 
nn !>pini<>n ,,n ttl~ \..'!lcctin:m:.ss of thr.: l.'fltity's imel na! etH1H\lL !\ll mal it ;:d:.;p includ<:s evaluating the 
uppmprial~llt:S~ ul' :!Cl'U\!!1iill~ J1L1]i;:ie:, !b~d :t!ld the fl!ilS011:lbkth.::iS nf :!LC0Ll!1ting l'StillWtes 11ll1dl..' by 
m;wJgeJ:H .. 'IlL a" w;;l! \i'> c\alua\ing tl1~: l>Vt:r:!ll prcs~ntminn L'ftb~ cons0!id~tt.:d financial swwmcnts. 

\\\· r),.-!i~\ ~, tlut lh(' nttdit C\ id~n;:c \\l' kru..: lit'lt;tim:d h :-otd'ficknl ~md appropri~lk In pnwide a basis h.H 
\Hir Judit nplllill!h 



Opinion 

In our npiniun, dH..' consolid~tl'd llnancinl st:ucmelll:i pn:~cnt l!"!ir!~ •. in alltmltcriul re-spects, the tinanci:il 
posili<Jn \Jl Si IOP.C\ Nel\\Orb inc. as .1t lkc~mber J 1; 2Dl•! and :2013, its financi~! pcrfonmmce and il:. 
t.:ash flows li.1r the )ears then ~nd..:d in accun.bnc~ with lnti:rti~!tional Financi,1! Rcp~.mlng St<tndnrd~. 

Chartcn:\.l Prnfcs~kmal Arwunt:ml". Chartl.'rcc! i\ccmml<mh 
Li..:cn:;ed Public .'\~cnullt<mb 
.lunl: 09, .20i 5 



Sl-IOJ>.CA Nct,york Inc. 
Consolidated s1atCillC!1b or loss and COlllprchensive loss 
years ended Dcccn1bcr 3 L 10 l4 and 2013 
(In Canadian dollars\ 

Revenue 
Cost of safes 

Expenses 
Marketmg and sates 
Platform 
F1nance and adminisiraliOil 
Servtce 

Loss from operat1119 actlvHH;;s before deprec1a!1on and amortrz:al,on 
Dt:preciaticn of pmperty and eqwpment (Note 6) 
Amortization of traden1r:1rks {Note 7i 

Ftnance 
lnves!nwnt tncorne 

Ne! !oss 

Otller comprehensive loss 
Unreaiized f<m value Qain/(loss) on mvestrnents 

_fornprchensive loss 

2014 
s 

27,377,005 
24,785,166 

2,591.839 

16,903,113 
3,0041223 
3,315,638 
1,097,921 

24,320,895 

(21 ,729,05$) 
142,313 

1,945 
(21,873,314) 

207,610 
(21,665,704) 

22,136 
(21,643,568) 

The accompanymg notes are an mtegra! part of these consolidated 
financial statements 

2013 
s 

21,853,943 
20.511.651 

1.342.292 

13.008.214 
2.514,520 
1,625.003 

737.962 
17.885.780 

(16,543,497} 
70,983 

1,403 
(1 6,615.883) 

77.146 
(16.538,737) 

{1 ,684} 
i16.540,421) 



SH()P.(:A NchYork (nc. 
(\msulid~llt.:d StH1c!1H.'l1lS o!' t:h:;HJgl.''\ in cquit) 
V!..'ars Cilded Det:cmbcr 3 l. ~{)I ~t ~md 20 i) 
ftn Canadt~!n dcli-iHS! -

Oponing tl;:J!,mco as <!iJtli1Lii.!!)' 1, 201-1 
lst:...;_~n~:e ·: n 'Sej:es A t·1t·.ai C!r;;sp ftr·o.ncif19 ~!1 ~">T4;Jn;;y.~ 

r~r ;:.;.:r;h rc~s ;:;~u<wcc costs (N::)'os 5 1 ~) 
l5bL.:2~~-c C:i ·se .. ;t:S· l1 Subt~equc·- t c~~s~- f:nr-r.:;~t ~t 'or 

l~i~Jt.:L~l~:C (:!) $eLC1 $ e' ''r-~~n::rny ;f ex:::.f1Jn;c-
f ~r • lP~ 1 [~~:;; \.1"~-.;~5 ,{ ·0~,"5. ~ ~ l 

tsS'..JJ'"1z:·c c.~.'""l~xc c s~i Cl! ~~p;.er··s t:..r e::;::.;h :N;:,H.:: { ~) 
Ne! fens lur u-,~ o.:.:·o.;J 
Sroc7.-r:asc\1 t:::imf'<'nS<1ho:, (:.;,;:te 1lb) 
Un1ca~~::-e~ ~~:r \·a·ce g .. '3 r,·{l0'55) c.r~tn~~n~~_..,......._. _______ ._., 
8;'li<rrr::~ es at Dt.:cembl:!r J1. 2014 

O;,er: 'S tn:anrc ?.:> ;v J¢c1t:a:y 1 ?.C13 
I;:;:;,~J~1·<e '5(-t {:-;t 1 ... ···~1r .~:~r1g c;::sn less 

IS5:~;\;V:t: ·-::-'1 ·~~:ff,(!.:; f.,. r f t~V~(:~~ ~n (!>:(htH"'Q_:;; ~~~· 

t~1· men 1 ies~ :~::..u:1;,ce cos~s p··h:t~!l:; .r;, k1} 

ts.s~ante en 'Sr;t !!'S r~ i. s· r,n.?f)~t~Q fc~ C;J:.~~~ !(:~:, 
~~~:.;e ccJ~:s P'lo~~~ 11 ~ 

Net I~:Y~ !or the pcr:Od 

Sr(x:J. .. basc.JJ con1pensc~t·:>.i INc~e : 1 b) 
Ur'realllt!l) fa:r v~~·t.;e c.a:ni{ias:;l a;,r:. .. ·r.:stn~cr:ts 

Jt~tH1CC ort. a~ Oecem't:c-r 3120 ~ 3 

29.184,00.! 

650,000 
4,S~•J 

59.284,831 

5 C·S5 

Accurnula!ed 
other 

payment comprt';honsivc 

422.07 J (5,594j 

1,232.192 
21?136 

1,654.255 16.542 

(3 910) 

373.207 

(28,25'1 ,625) 1,345,858 

12,094,550 

11,351,674 

65C,000 
4,653 

(2!,665.704) (21,665,70-1) 
i,'Z32.192 

22,13S 
(·1S,917,329j i1.0J!U59 

(11 71~ B38j 7.605 5€5 

3,52?.CCO 
(1G,538.1371 (15,5JS,737) 

373,207 
p,ua·q 



S II () P. (' .-\ :\ e tv~ o r I~ I n c. 
C'Pn:,ulidntt•d :-.L!kllh..'l1\", \li linilncr;d Jh1...,!\l()ll 

;h .H I )cccm h;.:·r 3 J . -~ () i-t and ::o l : 

: ....... 

:).;·.t\."!; ~~'t)dS~U P-Jr ~t\,~:r\~ 

~Ji!i:C.'t 

1·\ '985,839 
60().007 

2.307)574 

59.28-Ul81 
1,5$4,265 

t.!9.917 .329) 

~1 520.9E4 

25438Ci 



SI1()P.CA Net,vork Inc. 
Consolidated staten1ents or t:ash flO\VS 
years ended T)ccctnbcr Jl, 2014 and 20 J 3 
{!n Canadian dollars) 

Operating activities 
Net ioss 
Hems nol affectmg cash: 

Stock-based compensation 
Media tn kmd (Notes 5, 11) 
Dr:preciotton of property and equ1pment 
;\rno1i1Zai:on of trademarks 

Changes 111 non-c~1sh opera!;ng workmg cap:tal1terns 
Other accoun1s tecervabie 
Prepayments 
lnvenlury 
Trade oayables and accrued llabl!tliCS 

Deferred revenue 
r-Aedia subscription payable 

Investing activities 
Acquisition of property and equipment (Note 6) 
Acquisi1ion of intangible assats (l"~otc 7) 
Investments 

Financing activities 
Proceeds from rssuance oi 'Senes B !nltfal dose' shares (Note 1 l) 
Proceeds from :ssuance ol 'Sencs 8 subsequent close' s11ares (Note 11) 
Proceeds from exercised of options (Note 11) 
Proc.e~ds frorn tssuance of 'Series A 1' shams (Nolo 11) 
Proceeds from !Ssuance of 'Series A 15' shares (Nole 11) 

Nt!1 (decrea.sel1ncrease In cash and cas11 equivalents 
Cash and cash equ·ve1!ents. beqinninq of year 
C01sh and cash equivalents. cncl of year 

Cash and cash equivalents aro comprised of tho following: 
Cash 
Cash eau!valents 

2014 
s 

(21 .665,704) 

1,232,192 
390,000 
142,313 

1,945 
1,766,450 

236,227 
{87,776} 
(31,178) 
(37,164) 
558,650 

638.759 
(19,260,495} 

(3021939) 
(186,854) 
(235,734) 

12,094,550 
17,351,574 

4,653 

29,450,877 

9,464,855 
5,520,984 

14.985,839 

911,214 
14,074,625 
14,985,839 

The accompanying notes are an integral pa11 of these consolidated 

financ;ol statements 

2013 
s 

(16 ,538 .7 37) 

373,207 
1,304.507 

70.983 
1.403 

I ,750,100 

(1,309,522) 
1,154,5G3 
(163,797) 

5,938.022 
286.631 

(1,304,507) 

4.601.390 
{10,187.247) 

(35,736) 
(38,514) 

(267,588) 
(341 838) 

5,085.000 
3.520,000 
8,605,000 

(1.924.085) 
7.445,069 
5.520,984 

858.111 
4,662.873 
5,520.984 



SITOl).CA Nct\vork Inc. 
Notes to the consolidated finnnciat statctnents 
Decen1ber 3 1, 2014 and 2013 

J.!!2 Canadian dollars) 

i. Nature of oporations 

SHOP.CA Network lilc (the Company') was mcorporated on September 11. 2009 under the provisions 
of tho Canada Business Co"porat!ons Act and c.onlmenccd consumer opcraltons in July 2012. The 
Company is Rll on!H1B shopp•n!J rnwl·\r~tpL:n:;e, provtdn•:·l <.i C<:m;;~c!nn t3xpr;w;nce lihlt combines fl large 
S(:l;:;cliuq of p!odud~;, customer serVlC<' ~~ncJ 8 SQC!<l: loy<~!!y prufJ!~Hn !hdl rew3rds meml)ers on 
pu1d1iJSB The Comp2.1ny's hend office and registmed office ts locil.ted Ct! Toronto, Ontar;o 

2. Basis of presentation 

(a) Sta!emem or compiiancf' 

The Compvn{s consDlicla!•:.>d frndnctal st;;~tc:mcnts hZtvi:~ been prepared ill accordance with 
lnterr.alionar Fmanda! Heporting Standmds ("'FRS") es issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Goard. 

(lJ! Basis of moaswement 

These co11solidated financial st<:1terncnts hava been prcpnrecl on a going concern bas1s under the 
!IIStorical cos! convention, excepi for certain financial assets and f•nancial !!abilities wh1ch are 
rneasurecJ at f<Jir value, as explained in Note 3 (i) and Nolr~ 14 Ftn<'!nc:allnslrumonts 

Subs!dkHies are ent1ties controilDti by the Company Control 1s ach:cved where trw Company has 
H1e power over the investce. exposed to vm1ablc rewards and hns the me.:ms to d1rect reievan! 
actJ,.•ities. Tilese conso!idaied financial statements cornpnsc the 1esul!s of SHOP CA Net'.<Jork Inc 
and 233421 '} Ontario Inc. •.vhicJ1 is dorrnant. 

tdJ Fun\Jtionaf concncy 

Tiv~ conso!ldr,1led fmanciaf S!i1lemenis i:HC prcsenled m Canadldll !Jo'ld'S. the runc!Jona! cu:rency of 
the Company. 

(e) Accoun!i!lfi jurfgcmonts ancf kay sources ol esf!lnate vnco/ttJinly 

In !he prcp;:H<:!ion of the consoltdated f••wnc1a! statements and the application of tr,e Company·s 
accounlH19 policies. management ts required to make JUCigmcn!s, estJrn<'ltes and assumptions that 
~;;;ftecl the carrymg mnounis of assets lldbiiJ!ies, incorne ;md expenses The eswnates 8nd 
associflte:d c:;ssurnptions Me !lrn1ied oy the relevance of h:s!oriC<JI data fmd uncertamty or future 
events. Actual results could d1ff0r from those estimates 

The esltmates and underlymg (lssumpllons arc rcv1Cwed on an ongomg bas1s Revts!ons to 
accow1t1ng estim~1tes are rccogn;zed nt the penod 1111pacted If the revtston affects both the current 
~md ftHure penods than the revts1on ~s reflected in bott1 current and future pcnous 

In format on about ~1ssurnpt10ns o:md est mahan unceriauwes tl1at could have a s~gnJICC:H1r rmpacl on 
tl;e amounts recognized in ihe consohdated financJ;:cd statements 1s rncluded in the fo!low,ng notes: 

Note 3 (c) 
Note 3 <t) 
Note 3 (g) 
Note 3 (11) 
Note 3 {!) 
Note 3 (n) 
No\e 5 
Note 11 
Note 12 
Note 13 
Note 1•i 

.f!,Howance for doubtful accounts 
Prepayments 
Property and equtpment va!La!ion and useful Ide est11nates 
iniang1blc assets ond their recoverabd:ty 
RevQnue Recognition 
Store Credit and Hewards 
Prepayments 
Fair value of stock-based compensauon 
Government assistance from nweslment tax crcd1ts 
income taxes valuation allo\•Jance 
ClaSS!fication of financial instruments 



SlfQJl .. C.Lt\ Nct,vorl{ lnc .. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statctncnts 
Deccn1bcr 3 I, 201 4 and 2013 
(In Canadian dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies 

I ne accounting pohctes 52! out below hdve been applied cons;stently to al' penods presented m these 
conso!lda!ed flntmcral statements. 

(a) Foreign currency trunsl.ltJons 

The finanoal statements of the Cornpany are presented m Canadian dollars 

Transactions m currenc:es other !han the functional currency are translated at the rates of exchange 
at the date of !!1e transactton 1\t eac:t financial posii1on reportmg date, monetary assets and 
liabil1lles that are denon1mated 111 fore1gn currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
period end date Non~monetary 1tems that are measured 1n terms of l11stoncal cos! 1n a foreign 
currency are not relranslated. Fore1gn exchange gains and losses are recogmzed as profit or loss 111 
the period in which they arise and are recorded w;!hin other comprehensive income 

(li) Casf1 and ca311 nquivu/on!s 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand. deposits held with financiBllnstillltlons. other 
sr10rt-term highly liquicl investments with originn! matunt1es of three months or less and bank 
overdrJfls 

(cj Stmdrj accounts tcceival){c 

Sundry receiv8bles cJo not c<my any interest; thGrefore, ttle Bmort:zcd cost of these assets is equal 
to trw nominal va!ue. See Notes 3(i) and 3 (j) for rnore in~ormation on the recognition and 
rnaasurernanl of sundry recaivab!es. 

(ci) lnvfmtory 

inventory reflects goods ln-!ransll to customers and returned goods avatlable for sale that are 
recorded at nel realizable value During tile year S24.7tl5,166 (2013- S20,51 t651) of inventory was 
recognized as an el<pense. 

(e) lm·estmonts 

Investments comprise highly ~~qUid investm.;;nts havmg originn! terms to me~tunty of 3 month::; or less 
wt1en 8CqU!red 

(f) Prepuyn1cnts 

Prepayments <:1C~ recorded for pu;pard expend:rures and ar-e drawn down as used as specrf1ed 1n 

contracts 

(g) Propetty rmd eqwpment 

Propt-:rt;-· and eqwpment are stated at r.:oslless accumulated depmcrat1on and accumulated 
tmp<mment losses Deprecrahon of t11e assels cost less residtJal value ts recognized over the 
est11nated useful life of assets, based on, the follow.ng annual rates 

Computer eqLHpment 

Leasehold wnprovernents 

Strc:ngrit-fme over the shorier of the estunated life of the asset or 
3 years 
StrmghHme over the shorter of the esl!mated !Jfe of the asset or 
3 years 
Slrarght-l:ne over the tem1 of ttle lease. 



S~JOP .. CA Netlvorl{ Inc .. 
Notes to the consolidated flnancial sratetnents 
Dccc1nher 3 1) 2014 and 2013 
Jln Canad1an dollars) 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued} 

(gj l'roporty Dod oqvi[lrnr.nt (uontinued) 

fhe est;mafed useful lives, residua! values and deprec1alion methods are reviewed at the end of 
each reponing period, v;i!h the effect of any changes 111 estimates accounted for on a prospective 
basis The determination of appropriate useful lives and residua! values are based on 
management's judgment: as a result. the resulting depreciation is subject to est1matton uncertainty 

Items of property and equipment are derecognlzed upon disposal or when no future econom\c 
benefits are expected tc arise from their con!ir.ued use. Any gain or loss arismg (rom d1sposal or 
retirement is detarmined as the difference beiween the consideration received and the carrying 
amount of the Asset and is recognized in profit or loss 

(tl) lntunf!rbfo ~1ssets 

1) !?.tiQf:.:.Qc'1D2JJJUi~Lfif:iQ?J:;A 1J.m!Pmarks 
lntang1ble assets st<Jied a! cost !ndudc the SHOP.CA domains that have an Indefinite life and 
tile Cani'ldian and United States registered trademarks These 1rademark costs are amortized 
over 15 years 

Rcsemch costs are expensed as incum;d 

1\n in!ernally gencrat8d intangible assel arising from development {or frorn the development phase 
of an Internal project) is recognized if and only :f, all of the foHmv1ng have been demonstrated 

The tcchnicEJI fr:asibihty of comp!et;ng the mtang1b!e asset so that 1t wtl! be available for use 
or sare 
The tniention to complete the mtangrble asset and use or sell 1i 
The ability to use or sell lhe.inlang,b!e asset 
How the intangible asset 1.vil! generate prcbabie future econom1c benefits 
fhe availability of adeqLKJie !echnical. financlctl and other resources to comp!e!e the 
development and to use or sell the intang1ble asset. and 
The ability to mcr.1sure reliably the expenditure attnt)l)tablc to the intangible asset during 
lts develoament 

The arnoun! initiJIIy recognized for internally-generated intangible osscts is the sum of the 
cxpcnd1ture incuifed from the date when !he intangible asset first meels the recognition critena 
listed above. 1Nhere no intern~lly generated in!angfble asset can be recognized, the developmenl 
expcnd•lure is recognized in profit or loss in tt1e prmod in \Vll!ch it is incurred. 

There hi1'.tD hf:cn no de'JClopmen! costs mcurred to dRtc 

{j} Fmanrial instruments 

Financial assets and financ;ai liabilities are recognized '!.VtH:!n the Cornp<my becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument 

rinfmc1al assets and financlall\abiliHes are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are d1rectly allributable to the acquisition or issue oi f1nancials assets and financial liabilities (Oltler 
than f1nJ 1cr<:J! assets and f:nancialliabi!ities at farr v~!lue through profn or loss) are added to or 
deducted fiom the farr value of the financial assets or fin~mdalliabilities, as appropriate, on inittal 
recogmt1on Tr0nsact10n costs d1recUy attributable to the ocquisilion of financial asseis or financial 
!lablhllCS nl fcm value through profil or loss are recognr~ed in profit or loss v/hen incur;ed. 



SllOJ).CA Netlvork Jnc~ 
Notes to the consolidated financial statet11ents 
Deccinbcr 31, 20 l4 and 2013 
fin Canadian do!!ms) 

3. Significant accounting poHcles {continur:d) 

(j) Fuwncial insrrum8nts (continued) 

r) ClassificDfion and subsoqur;nl momwremont 

The Company classifies its financial instruments into one of the followmg ca1egories at in!ltal 
recognition based on the nature and purpose of the mstrurnent· 

Fair value ttlfough p;of1t or loss 
Held-lo-rnaturity 
Loans 2nrl receivables 
/l.vailab!e for sate 

Fair value through prom or loss 
Other liabilities 

Fair value throuah orofit or loss 

financ1a! assets and liabilities 8re classified t~s fair valuo through proflt or loss >vhen !he 
fin;JnciZJ! asset or liab1l1ty is held for tradmg or is dcs1gnaled as felir value through profit or loss 
upon in1!ial recogrlltion 

F!n<1ncial assets and lia!J!I!lies classified as fair value tlliough profit or loss are stated at fair 
value with any gains or !osses arising on remeasurernent recognized in profit or toss 

Availab 1e for sale financial assets 

A.va!labre for sale fin;:mcial assets are norHienva!iv;:;s tt1at are either designated as available for 
sale or are not classified in any of th~ olher asset categories The Company has designated 
investments wh;ct1 consist of C<Jnadl<:m eqwties as availab!e for sale financ1al assets 

Avarle~ble for sab financi<ll assets are stated at fair value. Changes in !he fatr value of monetary 
avallable for sate assets resulting from foreign exchange gains and loss0s. interest lncorne 
calculated using the eHeciive interest method and dividends are all recognized in profit or loss: 
all other changes in f?.ir value are re::ognized in other comprehensive income 'v\lhen an 
avaiiable for sale nsset is derecogni::ed. Hw cumulative foss in other comprehensive loss ts 
transferred to profit or Joss. 

Held-to-maturitv. loans and receivables and otf1er liabilities 

Held-to-maturity investments are non·derivative financial assets V/Jth fixed or determinable 
paymen!s and fixed :na!uri1y dates thai the Company has the intent and abiftty to hold to 
f11i31urity; the Company currently has no held-to-maturity assets. Loans and receivables are non­
derival(ve financial assets with frxed or deiefilllntlble paymants that are no\ quoted 1n an active 
market including cash and cash equivalents, and other accounts receivables. Olher financial 
!labilities include. trade payables and accrued liabilit~t~s 



Sll()l).Ci-\ Nct,vorl{ Inc. 
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December 31, 2014 and 2013 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued} 

(j} Fmanc:1dl mstrum:::nls (contlllucd) 

t) C!ussirication and subsoquent mvasur,:Jmenl (continued) 

Subsequent to initial recognition. H•ese financial instruments arc measured at amoM1zed cost 
using the effective interest method less any impairment The effecttve interest method is a 
method of calcul<lting lhe amor11zed cost of a financial mstrument and of allocating interest 
incorne or expense over the relevant period using the effect1vc m!erest rate Tt1e effect1ve 
u1teresl rate IS the rEde that exacily discounts estimated fulure cash flov:s (incfudrng all fees and 
po nts fi?.id or received. transac!ton costs and other prernrums or d1scounis that form an mlegral 
part of the effective interest rate) through the expected life of the fmanctalmstrument, or where 
appropri;;l!e. a shoncr period, to HH! net carrying amount on imltal recognt1ton 

The arnort1zed cosl of U1ese financial instruments approximates their fair vai:.Je due to the1r 
short-term nature 

nJ Oerecogmtwn 

FinanCicll assets are dewcognized when the con!ractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have exptred or were transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all nsks 
and rev;ards of ownership to another entity. 

Financ;a! t~ab;lt:e.s am derec:ognized when, and only when. the Company's ob!lgat1ons are 
discharged, c3nce!!ed or they expire. The difference bet'Neen the carrying amount of the 
financ1a! habi!rty derecognized and t11e constdera!1on paid and p~1yable is recognized in 
consolidated s!A!emr>nt of comprehensive loss 

(k.) /rnp.1irmer1! 

i) Non-financ1al Jssots 

The Company s plan! and equipment and defimte hl'e imanglb:es are reviewed for JndJcators of 
pokmtral trnpa1rrnent at the end of each repontng period. Such indicators may Include an 
adverse change in business climate, technology, or regulations that nnpact the mdustry. The 
determmatton of w!1elher such indicators extst requires significant ;udgemen1 

If md1cation of impairment exists, the assets recoverable amount ts estunated to determtne the 
extent of an impairment loss, if any F01 an asset that does not generate largely Independent 
cash inflows or for VJilich it lS no! possible to csttma'le the recoverable amount, the recoverable 
amount is dctennined for tho cash-generctting untl ("CGU'') to whrch tht: asset belongs A CGU 
1s the t;nm!lest identifiable group of assets that gcnc~rates cash tnflows that are largely 
Independent of the c<Jsh inflows from other assets ar groups ai assets 

Intangible assets with indefiMe useful hves and m!angible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at teas! annue1lly and lNhenever there is an tnd;ca!!on that the assBt may 
be Impaired. 

Recoverabie amount of an asset ar CGU 1s the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value 
tn use. The detennmation of the recoverable amount in the impatrment assessment requires 
estanates based on quoted market pnces. prices of comparable transactions. present value or 
ott1er valuation techniques or a combmat10n !hereof, necessitating management to make 
s;.tbJect,vc judgments and assumphons When calcul8ting ~n assets value muse. the esl!mated 
future cash flows are discounted to the!< present value using a pre-lax discount rate that reDacts 
Clment market assessments of the tHne value of rnoney and the risks specific to the asset for 
wmch Hw cash nov;s h;;,ve not been BUJliS!ud 
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3. Significant accounting policies {continued) 

(k) Impairment (continued) 

An impairment loss is recogntzed wlH~n ttle car;ymg •Hnount of an asset. or CGU. exceeds J!s 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recogrm:ed in profit or loss for !he penod An 
Hnpairmenl loss recognized in respect oi a CGU ts allocated first to reduce the carrymg amount 
of ::my goodwill aHoc<1ted to the CGU. if any, and then to reduce the carry·ing amount of the 
other assets ln the unit on a pro-rata basis. The Company has no goodwill balance for any of 
the reporting periods presented. 

An impairment loss ls reversed If !here is an indicaUon !hat there has been a change in !he 
oslrmates used to ddonnine !he reco•;erab!e amount. An 1mpairmc:nt loss IS reversed only to 
ihe extr.:nt lr1at the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized. The revers2l of an imp<Hrment loss is recognized immediately Jn profit or loss 

nJ ElJ.!f!nr:inLfl§~Ql::": 

Financ!ai assets, other than lhose <:1! fair value through profit or loss. are assessed for indicators 
C"f !fl1p~lrrm:nt al the end of c<!ch rr:porling p<~rimL Finam~ial 11sse!s are conSidered to be 
•mpaired when there is objective evidence tl1a1. as a resufi of one or more events lhat occurred 
after the 1nttial recognltior. of the fmanclal asset. the estimated iuture cash Ho•t.Js of the 
Hlves!ment have been negativcl:,; affected The deterrnination of whether such indicators exist 
requ1res Significant judgement. 

ObJ2C!Ive evidence of irnparrmenl could include the fo:lowing: 

Significant financial difficulty of !he issuer or caunterparty 
Default or derinquency in interest or pnnc1pol payments 
It has becorne probable thai the borrower will enter bankruptcy or f,nanclal reorganizatJon 
The diSappearance of an acl1ve market for !11e secunty, or 
S1gntftcan! or prolonged decline in the fair value of an avaJ!able for sale equity instruments 
below 1!s cost 

For financra! assels carried at amortized cost, the amount of the imparrrnen! is !lie difference 
between the assc!'s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, 
discolm!ed at the fmancial asset's original effcct1ve rntercst rate Tt1e carrying amount of the 
asset rs d1rectty reduced by the impairment loss W1!J1 the exception of other receivables Tile 
carry1ng amount of other receivables is reduced through the liSe of an allowance account 
V'lihen an other receivable is considered uncol!ec!Jb!e, it IS vmtteri off against the allowance 
account Subsequenl recoveries or amoun!s previously vmtten off arc cred1led against Hw 
allowance account Changes in the carrying amount of the allmvance account are recognized rn 
profit or loss 

lrnpa1rment losses on avai1ab!c for sale asset;:; are recognized by transferring the cumulative 
loss that has been recognized in other comprehensive mcome. and presented in unrealized 
gains/losses 1n equny, to piOiit or loss 

\1\lilh the except1on of avaifoble for sale equity instruments rf ;n a subsequent perfod. the 
amount of the impairment loss decreases ancl the decrease relates tc an event occurring after 
the rmpairment was recognized. the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through 
prof:t or loss. On the daic of impairment reversal, the carrying amount of the financial asset 
cannot exceed its amortized cos! had impalrment not been recognized. lmpalrment losses 
recognized in profit or loss on available for sale equity instruments cannot be reversed 
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3. Significant accounting policies {contimwd) 

(I} F?everwe ruvognition 

Rr::vemm represei1ls !he amounts rcceivtlb!e for goods and serv1ces provided m the normal course 
of business, net of d1scounts 

i) F:evenue ts reco9n1Zt:d from pmducl s8les or serv1ces rendered \Vhen the foliow1ng four cr1taria 
me met p(::rsu:.'lSive evid~nce of an 3rr~mgement ex;s!s. delivt:ry has occurred or services h<we 
been renuer ea. tll•O: 5e!hng pri!:t; is f1xed or deler:nlnLJble r:nd coll8clJbtllty IS n;asonably 
<JS5Uied 

T!H? Cornpany evaiu.::tes ':/i1etllcr it IS appropna!e to record !he gross arnoun! of p!Oduct sales 
and related costs or the net ;1mount ewned as comm1sstons Genera!!y, v·men the Company is 
r1 lnl'llliy obliga!ecl 111 a !rc:m;,ac\;on, is subJect to m\temory nsk. h8~ lal!tudF.: tn establ::;l1mg pnces 
r:md s;;lnctin9 supplirrs or hns sever0l buT not ~11! of t!H:Jse m£1!c<:tors revenue IS recorded at the 
uru~,s S~tles p:iGe 

Revenue! represents the s2lc oi products <md cligl181 con!cni Product sa:e~. and shipping 
r evenu(:S, nr:! or promolion~ll discounts. reb;;ltes. and return allow;;mces, are recorded v:hen the 
prorJur.!s ore deli vel ed 10 cu':;lomers 

~\eturn 8Howonces. v>lliCI1 redw:.:e revenue. me estmlated usrng tilStOfiCa! e:<per1ence Revenue 
from r-roducl sn!es <me! services ren\lef<'d IS mr:orded nel of sales nnd commodtty taxes 

'l hr: Cornpany penod:ca!ly providus mceni1ve ofiers to 1ts customers to encour1:1ge puichases 
Such oHers indude current discount offers, such flS percentage dts•:oun!s off current purct1ases. 
:nducernc:nt offers. like offers for luture discounl.s subject loa n1:mmum value purchase, anti 
oU1er sirnHar offers. Current diSCount offers. when 3(:C<;!ptcd by tt~~:; customers, ;;w;: tre.fJted 3s 2. 
reduction to the purct1ase price oi H1e ft:lated lransact:on, V.'ll!le in(iucenH:mi offers, when 
accepte'J by !he custom&! s, art! treated as a redu~l1on io purchas'.; pnce based on esltrnated 
iu!ure reden;p!i011 r;,ie.s Redemp!ton r:Jtes ~re estitn.:'lted uc;tng the Company's hlS!OnC<ll 
'··)r;:r;t.:'lcc for S!m!1iH mduCt!lllEr:t offers Current citscount offers and mducement ofi;;;rs am 
prcs•?n!ed as e1 nC:\ amount in ''Rovenw::.'' 

ii) D1splay revenJe is mcorded as earned. 

Iii) tniJestment incorne is recorde(f as earned consis.lent With 3 (1) FJnanc1a! Instruments 

(m) Cosi of saies 

Cos! of sales includes the cost of goods and cost of shipptng serv1ces sold More spcc1ficaHy, tt11s 
indudes H1e purctwse price of merchandise sold, along with fre:ght and handling costs Incurred 111 
prepanng and delivering the related item. 

(ni Store Croctit and Rewards 

SHOP CA store credil ts issued for returns on qualifying products returned after 30 days For 
vanous marketing and customer service aclivities, members can ?.!so be granted store credit by 
SHOP CA for future use. A prO\IlSion for !his store credit has been recorded as deferred revenue 
(See No!e 9 (b)) These store credits are available for future use on SHOPCA purchases and have 
no exp1ry dAle. 

SHOP.CA store credit is recognized vJhen used 

Prior to April1. 2014, nev; SHOP.C.A. members n:ceived sign-up bonus credits (re\vards). 
Spec!fJcal!y. new members recetved S25 SHOP.CA credits (rewards) that could be used on an order 
oi S 100 or mc;re. Effecl!Ve January t"', 2014. new members received S 15 credits (rewards) to , 
spend on an order of S99 or mote. The spend limit tS post discount and promo codes. All sign~up 
bonos credits (rev18rds) expired as of April 30, 2014. 

Prior to r.1ay 1, 20'14, SHOP.C/1. admlnistered a rewards program and members could be granted 
and earn rewards in a number of ways. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(ni SI-!OP Cl\ Storo Cradit and Rewards{conlmued/ 

Rewards earned on purch<lses are recorded at f.:m value <:Jnd presented net of revenue The 
estnnated fair value is determined based on expected future redemptions The trends in redempt;on 
rates are revievJed an an ongoing b<JSIS and the est1mated Ca:r varoe is adjusted based upon · 
expected future activity. 

Rewards issued as pari of member acquJSl!JOn and spectficali~llhe new member sign up bonus is 
recognJZE!d vvhen used. In 20-JJ, new members rece1ved erlher $15 or S2G to be used agamst the1r 
l1rst purchase of S 100 o~ more. The bonus had no cash value and the rmnimum purchase cntena 
had to be fulfflled. These rewards were available until expired on Apni 30, 2014 

For various rnarkeHng and customer service activit1es, members can also be granted rewards by 
SHOP.CA for future use. /\ provision for these rewards has been recorded as deferred revenue 
(See Note 9 (b)). 

(o) Slli.llf1-hased comper1sation plan 

i) ;$hare ooftons - aranls to emnlovee.<i 

The Company uses the 81ack-Scholes op\ion,pridng model to deierrnine the estimated fair 
value of options granted to employees at the grant da!e. The Board of Directors sets the 
exeicise price of till options 

IFRS 2 St1are-basecl Payments, requires that when share options granted vesi pro-rata over the 
vestmg period. that each tranche v.'i1h graded vesting fealurcs is treated as a separate share 
optfon grant. The f<lir value, detem11ned Clt !he gran! dale, cf each share oplion granted. 1s 
expensed on a straJght·line basis over H1e vesting period. taking into consideralion the 
Corr1pany's estirnaie of options lhat will evenlual!y vest, wiU1 a corresponding increase m equily. 
Forfeitures are es!ima!ed on the grant date and revised if the actual forfei1Ures d1ffer from 
prcv1ous esiimates 

Tl1e mpu!s !o the Biaci\-Sd>olcs model and t11e determrna11on of ti;o folfeltu1e rate are subject to 
management judgment. 

{o1 Leases - tile comp;:my as a lessee 

Operating lease payments are expensed on a stralgh!-lme basis over !11e lerrn of the relevant lease 
lncenuves received upon eniry into an operat1ng !ease are recognized straigh!·llne over the lease 
term 

(q) Pro;'!Stons and <:ontingancios 

i) Provrsions 

Pmvlslons are recorded when a present legal or constwct1ve obligation ex:sls as a result of past 
events \Nhere i! is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economlc benefits wiH be 
requlred to st:We !he obHgarion, and a reliable estimate of the amount of tlie obtigatian can be 
made Tl'H: etnount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration requireci 
to seH!e the present obl,gation at the balance sheet date. takrng mto accounlthe risks and 
uncertamlies surrounding the obligation. V'Jhere a prov1sion 1s me~sured using the cash flows 
estimated lo settle the present obligation. its carrJing amount rs the present value of those cash 
flov.,rs. Wl1en soma or ail of the economic beneftts reqwred to seltle a provisiOn are expected to 
be recovered from a thrrd pany. the rccctvable 1s recognized as an asset if 1t ts wtt..Jally certam 
U!at re;mbursemenl w1ii be 1ece:ved and the amount recei\lab!e can be measured reliably 
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3. Significant accounting policies {continued) 

{q} Provisions 8ncl contingoncios (conlinuf'ufl 

ii) Continoencies 

A contingent liability Is disclosed where the existence oi an ob\igat!Cm will only be conftrmed by 
futwe events, or \'.'here the amount of a present obligarion cannot be measured rehably or w1!1 
likely not result in an economic outnow. Contingent assets are only disclosed when the inflmv of 
economic benefits is probable. As contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future 
events occur or fail to occur, the assessment oi contingencies inherenHy involves the exercise 
of s!gnif1can1 judgment and estimates of the outcome of future events 

w) Return~~ ami ~!llownnccs omvisions 

Provtsions for returns and a!lo\vances are made based en historical r<~tes which represent the 
expected future outflm•1 of economic benefits on current sales. 

iv) Storo Crodit ({~cvvardsJ 

Provisions for future slo~c credit (reward redemptlOriS) are made based on the expected future 
outflow of economic benefits on markc\in~ and sales. Tliere is no expiry of these sfore credits 
anfJ nwn1bers are able to use these store credits on future purchases al their drscre!ion All 
sigrHip bonus rewards expired as of April 30, 2014 

(r) Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 

Curren! tm: IS the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss ior the year 
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax 
payable frorn previous yems. 

Deferred lax assets and liabilif1es are recognized for defenecl tt'lx consequences attnbutable to 
unused tax loss carry for.vards, unused tax credits and tllfferonces bet'>.veen the financtal statement 
t.arrymg flmaw1ts of mnstmg assets and 11abtht1es anc! their respective tax bases. Deferred lax 
assets and liabili!ics are measured usrr1g the enacted 01 substantively enacted tax rates expected to 
apply when the asset is realized or the llab1tr!y seWed 

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is reco9niz.ed in profit or loss 
1n the periocJ tha! substantive enactment occurs 

A deferred tax asset ts recognized to the extent that 1t is probable tl1at future taxable proms will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized To tt1e extent that the Company does no1 consider 
it p1 ob;;1b!t: that a deferred Ia:< asset Wtll be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced, Assess1ng 
the recoverabiiit)1 of deferred tax assets requrres the Company to rne~:e signiflcanl estimates related 
to cxpecta!ions of fuiure taxable mcome. 

Deferred tax asse!s and liabH\tles are offset when there is a legally enforceable nght to sel. off 
current tax assets against current tax !:abilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same letxat1cn <1uthority and the Cornpany intends to sellle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
f1t3f baSIS 

Segment tfJfiOtting 

The Cornpany has a single operalmg segment \VI!h all as,sets located and revenues generated from 
services provided in Canad;;.l 

Government assistance 1s composed of refundable tax credits and is recognized at !he e:<pected 
future value. 



S H ()P. C.'-\ Nct\'Yorl{ Inc. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statcn1cnts 
December 3] ~ 2014 and 201 J 
(In Canadi<HI dollars) 

4. Sundry accounts receivable 

Tax cred1ts receivable (PST. GST, HST, SREO) 
Other accounts receivable 
f•.l!owance for doubtful C!ccounts 

2014 
s 

1,598,147 
734,427 
(25,000! 

2,307,574 

Allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the esornated chan~ebacks Nil was drawn dov.rn. 

5, Prepayments 

Prepa1d medi8 
Other prepayments 

2014 
s 

260,000 
5SS,259 
848,259 

2013 
s 

2,329,574 
239,227 
(25.000) 

2.543,801 

2013 
s 

500.483 
500.483 

r, component of the Co111p;:H1y s senes I\ ftnanc1na (see Note 11) was an agreement to exchange Class 
;, COiTHllUfl sh::~res ullhe Curnpe::my for radio aut1me, r.mnt and digital media advert!s:ng serv1ces 

Out in[) t11c year, S550,0CO of shares were 1ssur;;d and !he corresponding expense of S390,00D was 
recognized to rcfiect mcrJta advertising services rendered (2:013 · S 1,304.507). P..t year end, $260,000 
remains as prep<:m.l media 

Other prepayments 1nC'udc fulure operat1ng expenses of Hv:~ business sucl1 as ren!, technology 
<md tnsuronce 



SI·IOP.CA Net,vork Inc. 
Notes Ln the consolidalcd financial statements 
Dcccn1bcr 3 l, 2014 and 2013 
(In Canadian dollars) 

6. Property and cquiprncnt 

Cos! 
Balance, January 1. 2013 
Additions 

8al<:1nce. December 31. 2013 
Additions 

Balance, December 31, 2014 

Accumulated depreciation 
Balance, January 1. 2013 
Deprectahon expense 

Balance, December 31, 2013 
Dcprecia1!on expense 

Balance. December 31.2014 

Carrying amount 
Decemb-er 31, 2013 
December 31, 2014 

Computer 

~lilfnent 
$ 

113,573 
35.736 

149,309 
296.118 
445.427 

28,894 
40,80~ 
69.699 

111,458 
181,157 

79,610 
264 270 

Furniture and Loasohold 
enuipment improvements 

s s 

41.833 57,793 

41,833 57,793 
6.821 

48,654 57,793 

5.783 5,612 
13.943 16.235 
19,726 21.847 
16,235 14.620 
351961 36,467 

22,107 35,946 
12,693 21,326 

There were no impairment vHite-dovms or any reversals of previous write-downs during the 
yB<Jrs presented. 

7. Intangible assets 

Co~! 

Balance, January 1, 2013 
r,dditfons 

Balance Decernber 31. 2013 
AddJt1ons 

Balance. December 31, 2014 

Accumulated arnoruza11on and unpamnent 
Batance January 1, 2013 
Amortizatmn 

Balance. December 31, 2013 
Amortlzatton 

Balance December 31. 2014 

Carryrng Amount 
December 31. 2013 
December 31 1 2014 

Domains Trademarks 
s s 

804,011 14.932 
26,280 12.234 

830,291 27,166 
182,839 4,015 

1,013,130 31.181 

1.403 
1,403 
1 945 
3,348 

830,291 25,763 
1,013.130 27,833 

There \\'ere no impairment write-downs or any reversals of previous write-downs during the 
years presented 

Total 
$ 

213,199 
35.736 

248,935 
302.939 

40,289 
70.983 

111,272 
142.313 
253,585 

137,663 
298,289 

Total 
s 

818,943 
38,514 

857,457 
186.854 

1.044,311 

1403 
1A03 
1,945 

3.348 

856,054 
1,040,963 



Sll () P.C .. t\ Nct'"'orl{ Inc. 
Notes to the consol idatcd financ ia} staternents 
Dcccn1her 31.2014 nnd 2013 
(In Canad1an dolfafs) 

8. Trade payablcs and accrued liabillttcs 

2014 2013 
$ s 

1rade payables 4,670,287 4.764.686 
Tax payabfe (PST. GST, HST) 594,722 1,980,896 

_A~c~c_ru~e~d~lia~b~l_lrt~re~s ___________________________________________ 2~,_9_8~9,~1_8_6 ____ ~1~,5~4.5.777 

9. Deferred revenue 

Customer deposits (a) 
Store credit iRewaras omgrarnl (b) 

Tt1e Company"s deferred revenue rs ilS follows 

8,254,195, 8.291.359 

2014 
s 

868,889 
135,000 

1,003,889 

2013 
s 

177.485 
267,754 
445,239 

(a) Customer tlepos!ts are recorded when p;:;yrnent 1s received H1 ndvance of delivery of goods to !he 
customer 

(b) SHOP.C.~\ members have <Jccur'llulated store credt! (revmrds pnor to May 1, 2014) that are available 
for future use aml t!1ese art: earned as deferred revenue unl!l ulillz..:cL 

10. Leases 

{n) J:io;Jnco tee: 

Tl1ere arc no fin;:,ncc leases outsll:lnding, 

(b) Opornlmg lenses 

The remaining torms of the operating lease nre frorn one lo three years plus remw:al opt10ns. Future 
mmimum lease pilyments under lhese operatmg leases arc as folfows 

Total 

s 

Future minimum lease pavments 231.641 

Less than 
1 year 

s 

213,822 

1 to 5 More than 
xears 5 years 

s s 

17,819 

Gross operating lease payments of $2"13,822 (2013- S209,476) were recognized as an expense for 
the year ended December 31, 2014. 



SI·I()I?.CA Nct\vork lnc. 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 
(In Cal'ladi8n dollars) 

11. Share capital and reserves 

(a) Aul!Jorizecl stmre cap1taf 

The Company 11as an unlinltted number of authonzed Class A common s!1ares wl!h no par value. 

Issued slwre cHpitai 

Bal;:mce, J:.muary 1. 2013 
Issuance on "Series A" financing 

Issued m exchange for med1~ (t) 
Issued for cash less issue costs (i1} 
Issued for cash less 1ssue costs( Iii} 

Batance, December 31. 2013 
Issuance on "Series 8'' hnancmg 

Issued for cash less tssues costs (IV) 
Issued for cash less 1ssue costs (v) 
Issued in exchange for media (vt) 
Issued for cash (vii) 

Balance, December 31., 2014 --

Class A 
common 

shares 

157.361 959 

•1.457,382 
13.348,125 
7,392.000 

182.559.466 

i6,707.469 
24,055.096 

812,500 
75.278 

224.209,809 

Class A 
common 

shares 
s 

19.274.497 

1,304,507 
5,085,000 
3.520,000 

29,184,004 

12,094.550 
17,351.674 

650,000 
4,G53 

59!2841881 

Ourmg lh~ ye0r ended Deccrnbcr 31 2013 the Company tssued C!ass f>.. common shares tn li!e 
lcllowJng transactions 

(i) From J3nuary I. 20L1 !o March 31. 2013. the Company tssued 4,253,452 shares at prices 
between SO 24 and S0.3-~ per share in constderallon for med1a and advertrsing servtces 
prov1cled by mvestors in the 'Series A' financing am:mgement. This was a non-cash transactiOn 
as lhe Company received rnec!1a and advertismg in lieu of cash 

From January 1. 2013 !o March 31 2013. the Company issued 203,930 shares at a price of 
S0.29 per share to a merchant banker in cons1deralion of services received to arrange the 
·sertes A' ftnancmg (560.020) 

The cost of an:.1ngtng these media and advertlstng services !1as been netted against the share 
capital ra1sed and was a non-cash transaction. (S60.020). 

(n) On p .. ugusl28. 2013. rhe Company ciosed?. ·senes Jl.,1' financing arrangement and issued 
12.712.500 shares at a price of S0.40 per share for cash. ($5.085,000). 

On Augusl28. 2013 the Company issued 635.625 shares at a prlce of S0.40 per share to a 
merchant banker in consideratton of services rece:ved lo arrange the 'Series A 1' financing 
(S254,250) 

The cost of thrs ftnancmg has been netted agamst the share capital raised and was fi non-cash 
transactron ($254 ,250), 



Sli()P.Ct-\ Net\vork Inc. 
Notes to the consolidated finaneinl statcn1cnts 
Dccen1ber 31, 2014 and 2013 
(ln Canad~an dollars) 

11. Share capital and reserves {contintn::d} 

(a} Authonzed s!Jaro t::dpilnf (contmuodj 

(;n} On Dt.:cernber 10. 2013, the Company closed a ·SE:~ries A 1 s· financtng anangement and tssued 
7,040,000 shares at a pnce of SO 50 per share for cash (S3,520.000) The offering included a 
provtsion !o issue subscnbers addltton~l shares correspondmg to 20% of tt·te number of 
common shares 1ssut::d to a subscnber If add:tmna! c.:~prtal was not ra1sed by Apnl 30, 201•1 

On December 10 20 l.3 the Company tssued 352 000 si1an::s al a pnce of SO 50 per share to a 
merchant banker u1 consid~o:ration of serv1ces rece:ved to arrange the ·series A 1 5' financing 
(5176,000} 

The cost of fh1s financmg has tH':?(?n netted against trw share capital raised and was a non-cash 
transaction. (S176,000). 

During the year ended December 31, 2014 th'3 Company !Ssw.::d Class A cornrnon shares in the 
fo!lmmng transactions: 

(iv) On Marct1 28. 2014, the Company closed a 'Senes 8 Initial Close' imanc1119 arrangement and 
tssued ·i 5,91 i ,875 shores at a price of SO 80 per share for cash (S12,729.500j. 

On f·!:mch 28 2014. the Company issued 795 594 shares at a prico of SO 80 per share to a 
rnerch~mt banker tn consideration of serv1ces rece1ved to arrange the ·series 8' f1nancmg 
{$636,47::!). 

The cost of this financing has been nettcci ag;:unst 1the share caprtal rcHsed and was a non cash 
transaction. (S636,ct75). 

(v) On 1\ptil 30,2014, the c.ornp<~ny closed '1 ·scnes 8 Subsequent Close· fmanc:ng arrangement 
and 1ssued 22.870;925 shares ar <J pnce of SO BO per st1are for casl1 (SHl 296 740; 

On F\pril 30. 2014, the Company 1ssued 1.18t.;,17~1 shares at a pr1ce of $0 80 per share to a 
merchant banker ln consideration of serv1ces recerved to arrange !he ·series 8' fmam::tng 
(S947,337) 

The cosl of !his financing has been netted agamst the share capttal raised and was a non-cash 
transaction. (S9'H .33 7). 

(vi) On 1\prll 30, 2014. the Company issued 812,500 shares at a price of SO 80 Per share in 
cons,demtion for rnecli8 and advertising services provided by investors m !he 'Senes a· 
fmanc!ng arrangement. Th:s is a non-cash transacllon as !he CompanY' rece1ved med1a and 
advertising in lieu of cash. 

(vit) Dunng the year ended December 31, 2014 vested optrons v:ere exerc1sed for the 1ssuance of 
75,278 shares for cash. (54,653). 

(IJ) Stwru-!Jasccf P<-l)'menl exponsc and reservo 

On January 1. 20 i 1, the Company establmhecJ tt1e founders stock option plan On June 15, 2012 
the Company established the stod< omlon pl<'!n 2 follmved by stock option pian 3 on .A.pnl 1, 20'14 
(together referred to as tho; ''Plans') These Plans are rntended to allract. retain and motivate 
employees, officers and directors. The Company's Boarcl of Directors determines, among other 
things, tho elig1bHlty of individuals to partbpate 111 the Plans and the term. vestmg penods, and the 
exerc1se pnce of options granted under tr1e Plans Tile totai number of shares wh1ch may be issued 
under the Plans shall not exct;ed 25.000 000 Class t, common shares. This amount is aHocated 
between the plans as 10.000.000 Class A common shan;s ior the founders' stock option plan and 
5.000.000 Class 1\ common shares as established June 15, 2012 ln stock option plan 2 and 
10,000,000 Class A cornmon shares tn stock option ptan 3 



SH()P.CA Net\vorl{ Inc. 
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Dcccn1ber 31, 2014 and 2013 
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11. Share capital and reserves (continued) 

(l.i) Sh;~m-f.>?Jsecf p;1yment expensp and u:::.orvo (contmuori) 

Opllons granted under the Plans have a maxrmum term of ten years The opt1ons begin to vest 24 
months after grant date and vest at a rate of 1135 per' month frorn that time (unless otherv.-,se 
determH1ed by the Board of Otrec!ors) and have an exercise pnce per share of no less than tlie fair 
market value of the ··underlying shams·· on the date of the oplton grant less any applicable d1scount. 
as determmed by the Board of Dtrectors or duly authorized comm1ttee at the time of the grant 

P..l! opt1ons granted under the Plans that have not been exercised on or before their tenth 
a;· ntvet sa:-y of !hu date of grant will exptre on thai date subject to ear!1er termination upon the opt1on 
holder ce<'3Sing to be t1 direc\or offtcer. employee or consultan! of the Company. Tile following table 
presents tnforrnation concerning stock options granted to the Companj's direciors, officers. and 
empioyees 

Pa;e 2i 



SH()P.C.A. Network Inc. 
Ndtes tl\ the t:Dnsol ida ted lirwn~iai ~l:w:m,;nts 
Dcecmbt.T .~L :201~ and ::ol.3 

2C14 Grant.:;;J ~ xercisod 

...;t1!'1 1 :?Q ~ !j 14,003.000 
~·311 ~. !.!;;~ 3; 1,600,000 
t..pr ~ ~ J~:n 3D 5.187,500 
Jt.Jl 1 .. Set! 3fJ 295.500 (26,667) 
Oc • · L''.:t;31 2.770,()00 !ML611) 

23.t157,000 17 5 278) -----

j~~:~ ::::!13 1 1.020 OJO 
JE1l t~·:ar 3 i 550 cc~a 
;,.:;r Jt..:rt 30 20 OQO 
J'.J .Sepr 3G 8?& Gr)?j 

Expiwo Forl.cHcd 

! 250,0001 (625,000) 
(J02,SM) 

(50,000i 
{143,33.3} 

{8.678) Faa.21 :n 
(308,6781 n1JS1.0<t41 

(1•35_CDG) 
(55,C0:!~ 

(3~l?.~~~:r} 

{G:~,oo:~·~ 

Outstanding 
Oecc rnbcr 31, Number Expiry E.xen::lse 

2014 vested dat~ 2rke 
s 

1:>,128,000 2,900,711 Dec 2023 o Oi. 0.50 
1,297,500 8JS,107 Mar 2024 o.ao 
5,137,500 9.:10,975 Jttn 2014 O.BD 

126.500 919,364 Sept 2024 0.130 
2,432,500 1,151,017 Dec 20'24 0 06 

:Z2.1'22.00'J 6 728.H4 

ou~~f.:~n:hr.g 

n~c-t~:-n~~: 3~ Nunt:Jcr [>:p:y ExercLse 

1 1 .<:65 (}('0 ~8[!1582 De<: 2022 G 01 0 :~o 
~~s::. ceo .: H).67.: Met :t.on 0 :\Q 

{322 5(:':'!· ~29.171i Ju:\ 20?3 0 30 
7G5Jcc~:: '716.€~9 Sep: 2-G~.'3 e 30 -0 40 
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Dccen1ber 31, 2014 and 10 J 3 
(In Canadian dollars) 

11. Share capital and reserves (continued) 

(b) Stwre-hased payment expense and reserve (conlmueci) 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing 1T1odel to detenmne the est:rnated fair value of 
!he oplmns issued. In all the ca!cula!ions the expected hfe was f1ve years and the annual d1vidend 
yield INas ~ssumed lo bo SNH. td! other assumpt1ons are sumrmmzed below 

2014 
Grant date 

J3nu<Jry 1 - March 31 
Apri! 1 · June 30 
July 1 · SepTember 30 
October 1 • Dec.ernher 31 

2013 
Grvnl date 

Junumy 1 • ~..:1arcl1 31 
.April 1 ·June 30 
Jul}' 1 · Sep!ember 30 
October 1 -December 31 

Balance. JLmuary 1. 2013 

Options 
granted 

1,600,000 
5,187,500 

296.500 
2,770t000 
9 854.000 

Optwns 
oranted 

650,000 
20,000 

828,000 
885.000 

2.383,000 

Weighted 
average 
volatility 

rate 
% 

49.572 
49.509 
49.007 
48.726 
49.284 

Weighted 
average 
vo!ntilily 

rate 
C/ 
[IJ 

51 768 
51.645 
50 921 
45 717 
49 226 

Emeloyee stock-based compensation recorded m lhe yeai 
Balance. December 31,2013 

Employee stock-based com:Jcmsation recorded tn the vear 
Balance, December 3·1, 2014 

Weighted Weighted 
average average 
risk free fair value 
interest at grant 

rate date 
Cl 
JO s 

1.956 0.5751 
1.970 0.4865 
1.905 0.4820 
1.820 0.4787 
1.924 0.4986 

Weighted We1ghted 
avemge average 
risk free fair value 
interest at grant 

rate date -Ul 
/0 s 

1 622 0.1855 
1 580 0 1854 
2 260 0.2196 
2 '175 0 3845 
2 049 0 2713 

Share-based 
payment reserve 

$ 

48,866 
373.207 
422,073 

1,232,192 
1 654 265 

For the year ended December 31. 2014 the Company recogn:zed compensation expense in refation 
to these apt:ons of $1,232,192 {2013 • $373,207) m operating costs. 

?age 2J 
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Notes to the consolidiltcd financial state1nents 
Dcccn1ber 31, 2014 and 2013 
(In Cml<Jd!an dollars) 

12. Government assistance 

Refundable tax crechts relatmg to sc,ent,flc research and experimental development ("SRED") of the 
Comp~Jny are claimed from tfle Canadian federal and provincial governments. The net refundable tax 
credits recorded lo operating costs ior the ~'ear ended December 31, 2014 ware $125,000 (2.013-
SS,OOO as a result of a benefit of $122,137 related to 2013 being ofiset by an adjustment to the 2012 
recovery of (S127,13i)). 

13. Income taxes 

A reconciiJatfon of income taxes for tile years ended Oecernber 31, 2014 and 2013 a\ statutory rates 
'.Vlth thE! reported income t?.xes as follows 

Loss f; om conttnumg oeerat1ons 

T<J.X benefits at es!trnated combined s!atutory lax rate 
Items not deductible for 1ncome tax 
Recovery rate before vo!w:~tJon a lo-.vance 
Change in valuation allowance 
lncomo tax proVISIOn 

2014 
s 

{21.873.314} 

3,354,753 
(198,700) 

3,156,053 
{3,156,053} 

2013 
s 

(16.615,883) 

2,563.504 
(46.940) 

2,516.564 
(2,5113.564) 

As at D~ccmber 3l. '2014, U1e Company hos non ·Capi\ai tax loss carry-for-vards and temporary 
differences on plant and eqwpment The Company does not consider it more pmbabie !han no! that the 
tax ;%sets will be realiZed so it h<Js uppi:ed a valuation allowance and tlwrefore no future incorne tax 
expense or recovery has been recorded for the year 

Future income tax assets 
Tax loss carryfor.vards 
Intangible assets 
Proporty ~md eqwpmont 
SRED 
Unamoniz£>d fln~:lnc,no fees 

Valuation allowance 
Future income tax ass~ts 

2014 
s 

(7,315,694) 
85,<145 

{39,461) 
(22,951) 

{230,011) 
(7,522,672} 
7,522,672 

2013 
s 

(4,199,897) 
(5,542) 

(17,255) 
(6. 775) 

(51.133) 
(4,280,602) 
4.280.602 



SJ-1 () J>.CA Net\vorl\ Inc. 
Notes to the consolidated flnanciaJ swten1cnts 
December 31, 2014 and 20 ll 
(In CanDcl1an doHars) 

13. Income taxes (continued) 

Non-capih1! losses 

The Company h8s non·cap1taf fosses of approximately $47.198,028 ava1lable for c;Jrry,forwmd to reduce 
fu!ure years' income ror lax purposes !haL if unused. will expire as follows 

2029 61,446 
2030 145,682 
2031 G68,248 
2032 9,994,590 
2033 16,162.547 
2034 ___________________________________ 2_:0;..:.'~16_:5;....;';..:.5_1..;.._5 

47,198,028 

14. Finnnci~l instrwnents 

The f<m values ol H1e Comp~Jn,/s financi<J! rnslruments npproxur13te the carrytng values The Comp<my 
1s exposed to various risks related to 1!s financial tnstruments as follows 

(.:t) Ft~Jt value of flnnncial instruments 

fa;r Vil.!ue is rJelineti as lhe pnce ill whtGh an asset or l1abllt!y could be exchanged 1n a cumml 
tri'lnsar,:!ion bP.tween knowlmlgr:;Jb!p willing partass other than m Cl forced or 1tquida!1on sale Tl1o 
f::ur value of Instruments that are quot2d tn act1Vc markets is delerrmm:d usrng the quoted pnces 
where !hey roprf.:;scn! those at wh1ch regularly and recently occumng lr~HJSac!ions rake place The 
Cornpany uses valuntion technioues to establish tile farr value of mstruments where pnces quoted m 
active rnmkr::ts are not evailat.1le Therefore, where possible, parameter 1nputs to the valualion 
techniques are based on observab!e data derived from prices of reh::vant mstrume.nts traded m an 
active m<Hket. These vatua!iOn techmques mvolve some level of management eslnna!1on and 
judgment. ihe degree of \Nhich w11l depend on the pnce transparency for the mstrument or market 
and the tnstrurnenrs cornp!ex1ty 

The Cornpa:w categorizes its f<m value measurements a:;cord:ng to a three.!evel hierarchy The 
hierarchy pnoritizes the inputs used by the Company's valuation techniques. /\ level is assigned to 
each fair value rneasurernenl based an !he !owes! level rnput s~gnificant to the fair vaiue 
1neasuremen1 m its entirety The three levels of the fair value h1ermchy are defined as follows 

Levei 1 - Unadjusted quoted pnces at !he measurement date for rdentr8al asseis or liabi!Jlles m 
active markets. 

Level 2 · Observable inputs other than quoted pnces included in Lever I, such as quot•:;d pnces for 
similar assets and Habihties in ac!1ve markets: quoted pnces for 1dent1cal or s1rnilar assets and 
liabllilies in rnarkets that are not act1ve. or olhtlr inputs that are observable or can be corroborated 
by observable rnarke! data. 

Level 3 · Srgnfticant unobservable mputs whlch are supported by lrtt!c or no market activit}1 

The investments consist of Money M<:Jrket funds and Canad1an equity secunt>es. These are he!d a! 
level 1 



Sll()J>.CA Net\rvork Inc .. 
Notes to the consolid:Jted financial swtetnents 
Decctnbcr 3 1, 201 4 and 2013 
{In Ci:lnad>i-10 do'l3rs) 

14. Financial instruments (continued) 

(!)) Rtsks arising ftonr financial instruments 

I) rorotQfL_exchanoe ns.k 

TLe Company is exposed to mtnm1a· foreign exct1ange risk. A 10% change in tile US exchange 
rate would change cash 8nd accounts pay•able by approxirnateiy 5108,220 {2013 • $16,232). 

ii) Cred1t nsk 

The Company 1S exposed to cred1t nsk through chargebacks owed to its payment provider The 
CompBny uses an allowance to provide for lhese losses. There have been rnfnimai 
dla·gebar;ks 1n 20i4 rmd 2013 

iit) Interest rate risk 

The Company IS no\ mater;alfy exposed to 1nteres! rate risk. 

iv) Market risk 

1 he Company is exposed to rn1nHnal market nsk !~ 5% change in investment value wdl change 
the net loss bj' approxnnately S3Q,OOO (2013 · S17,107) 

v) Liquidity dsk 

Uqu1dity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
1hey fall due. The Company recogmzes \he neod far further capilal and subsequent to yearend 
11as secvred additional fundmg 

The Company manages liqUidity r:s!-; by continuous!y monitoring actual and forecast cash flows 
manag1ng expenses. !everag1ng crec11t fachw::s and payment terms and seeking additional cash 
financing. 

The fortowlng tabie provides a contrCJctua! matunly analysis for financtalliaL1ililies: 

Trade payables and accrued 
liabilities (Note 1) 

Total 
s 

Less than 
1 year 

s 

8,254,195 8,254,195 

Nol!'l ·1 . accow,ts payable are general!y settled \.'.ll!hm 30 days 

15. Related parties 

1 to 3 
years 

s 

4 to 5 
years 

s 

Aftor 
5 years 

s 

Rclialed party trans::lclions are m !he normal course of bus1ness and unless othervnse descnbed, are 
r12corded a! !lie oxchange amount 

Duo to rota!od prt~tios 

fv1cdia subscnption payable represents the amount oi share subsc1ipl1ons due rn sha;-es of the 
Company. The rne<Jia subscnp!ton was ISSLJCd quarterly and an came due on March 31, 2013 



SJJ()Il .. C;-\ Nct\vor}( Inc. 
Notes to the con sol ida ted flnancial statctncnts 
Deceinbcr 31 ~ 2014 and 2013 
(ln Canadi(Hl dollars) 

15. Related parties (continued) 

Key management remuneration 

The rt:muneialion for key management for the year ended December 3 ·1, 20i4 was: 

Salary/ Short term Share-based 2014 2013 
fees benefits ea~mant Total Total 

s s $ s $ 

Ke~ rnanaqernenl 992.141 6,646 2.416:990 3.415:777 1.105,128 

O!her related potty ltwJsaclions 

/\ ,,,~:fe of a director of the Company received consulting fees totaling $28.000 during the year ended 
December 31 201<1 (2013- $53,977} 2s cornpensa!ion for time spent working on speclal pro;ects 

A director oi the Cornpany received rnerchan! banking fees totalmg S 1 583,132 dunng the year ended 
December 31. 2014 (2013- $490.21'0) as compensation for arranging equ ty transactions 

16. Cornpar:ative figures 

Certain comoara!ive figures have been reclassified to conform to the current )'ear's presentation 

17. Subsequeht event 

The Company completed arlcll!iona! finnncing on rv1ay 12, 2015 for ne! cash proceeds of S13.052,623 by 
se!ling 17,174,504 Class A Cammon Shares at 50.80/share and 8,587.253 one hali of one Class A 
Common Share Purchase V\!arran!s Each whole Warrant entttlcs the hoidCi to purchase one addil!on<:d 
Clnss l\ Cornman Share {Warrant Sl1arei of the Corporation at an exerctse pnce of $0 90 per Warrant 
Sh<m:: for a period of 48 months fo!lowlng !he Closing Da!e. In total. 3,861,481 shares were issued to a 
merchant banker in considamtion of services received to arr<mge !he financing (53.089.185). 
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SHOP.CA Network Inc. 
Consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss 
years ended December 31,2015 and 2014 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Revenue 
Cost of sales 

Expenses 
Marketing and sales 
Platform 
Finance and administration 
·service 
Service 

Loss from operating activities before depreciation and amortization 
Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 6) 
Amortization of trademarks (Note 7) 

Finance 
Investment income 

Net loss 

Other comprehensive loss 
Unrealized fair value (loss)/gain on investments 

Comerehensive Joss 

2015 
$ 

23,260,142 
20,353,197 
2,906 945 

15,362,304 
3,638,174 
1,899,485 
1.205,409 

484 339 
22,589,711 

(19,682,766) 
186,979 

2,456 
(19,872,201) 

148,830 
(19,723,371} 

(97,372} 
(19,820l43) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

2014 
$ 

27,377,005 
24,785,166 

2,591,839 

16,903,113 
3,004,223 
3,315,638 
1,097,921 

24,320,895 

(21,729,056) 
142,313 

1,945 
(21 ,873,314) 

207,610 
(21,665,704) 

22,136 
(21 ,643,568) 
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SHOP.CA Network Inc. 
Consolidated statements of changes in equity 
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(In Canadian doHars) 

Opening balance as at January 1, 2015 
Issuance on 'Series C financing in exchange 

for cash less issuance costs (Notes 5, 11} 
Issuance on exercise of options for cash (Note 11) 
Net loss for the period 
Stock-based compensation (Note 11b} 

Accumulated 
Share-based other 

Share payment comprehensive 
capital r~serve (gain) loss 

$ $ $ 

59,284,881 

12,957,100 
77,632 

1,654,265 16,542 

Deficit 
$ 

(49,917,329} 

(19,723.371} 

Total 
$ 

11,038,359 

12,957,100 
77,632 

(19,723,371} 

Unrealized fair value gainf(loss} on investments - - {97,372) - (97,372} 
Balance as at December 31, 2015 72,319,613 1,654,265 (80,830) {69,640,700) 4,252,348 

Opening balance as at January 1, 2014 29,184,004 422,073 (5,594) {28,251 ,625) 1,348,858 
Issuance on •series 8 Initial Close' financing in exchange 

for cash !ess issuance costs (Notes 5, 11) 12,094,550 - - - 12,094,550 
Issuance on 'Series 8 Subsequent Close' financing for 

cash ress Issue costs (Note 11) 17,351.674 - - - 17,351,674 
Issuance on 'Series 8' financing in exchange 

for media Jess issuance costs (Notes 5, 11) 650,000 - - - 650,000 
Issuance on exercise of options for cash (Note 11) 4,653 - - - 4,653 
Netlossfortheperiod - - - (21,665,704) (21,665,704) 
Stock-based compensation (Note 11 b) - 1 ,232,192 - - 1,232,192 
UnreaUzed fair value gainf(loss) on investments - - 22,136 - 22,136 
Balance as at December 31, 2014 59,284

1
881 1,654,265 16,542 {49,917,329) 11,0381359 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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SHOP.CA Nenvork Inc. 
Consolidated statements of financial position 
as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Assets 
Current 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Sundry accounts receivable (Note4} 
Inventory 
Prepayments (Notes 5} 

Non-current 
Property and equipment (Note 6) 
Intangible assets (Note 7) 

Lia b Jliti es 
Current 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities {Note 8) 
Deferred revenue (Note 9) 

Shareholders' equlty 
Share capital (Note 11) 
Share-based payment reserve (Note 11) 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive (gain) I loss 

Total liabilities and shareholders• equity 

Approved by the Board of Directors: 

June 10, 2016 

2015 2014 
$ $ 

5,134,150 
464,878 

21033,399 
120,299 
262r044 

8,014 770 

275,248 
1,049,830 
1 325 078 
9 339 848 

4,299,495 
788,005 

5.087,500 

72,319,613 
1,654,265 

(69,640,700) 
(80,830) 

4,252,348 
9,339,848 

14,985,839 
600,007 

2,307,574 
215,512 
848,259 

18,957,191 

298,289 
1,040,963 
1,339,252 

20 296 443 

8,254,195 
1,003,889 
9,258,084 

59,284,881 
1,654,265 

{49,917,329) 
16,542 

11,038,359 
20,296,443 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 
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SHOP.CA Network Inc. 
Consolidated statements of cash flows 
years ended December 31,2015 and 2014 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Operating activities 
Net loss 
Items not affecting cash: 

Stock-based compensation 
Media in kind (Notes 5, 11) 
Depreciation of property and equipment 
Amortization of trademarks 

Changes in non-cash operating worrjng capital items: 
Other accounts receivable 
Prepayments 
Inventory 
Trade payables and accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue 

Investing activities 
Acquisition of property and equipment (Note 6) 
Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 7) 
Investments 

Financing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of'Series C shares (Note 11) 
Proceeds from issuance of'Series 8 initial close' shares (Note 11) 
Proceeds from issuance of 'Series 8 subsequent close' shares (Note 11) 
Proceeds from exercised of options {Note 11) 
Proceeds from issuance of'Series A1' shares (Note 11) 
Proceeds from issuance of 'Series A1.5' shares (Note 11) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following: 
Cash 
Cash equivalents 

2015 
$ 

(19,723~371) 

189,435 

274,175 
586,215 

95,213 
(3,954,700} 

(215,884) 
(3,214,981) 

(22,748,917) 

(183,938) 
{11,323) 
37,757 

(137,504) 

12,957,100 

77,632 

13,034,732 

(9,851,689) 
14,985,839 
5,134,150 

991~014 
4,143,136 
5134150 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

2014 
$ 

(21,665,704) 

1,232,192 
390,000 
142,313 

1,945 
1,766.450 

236,227 
(87,776) 
{31, 178) 
(37,164) 
558,650 
636,759 

(19,260,495) 

(302,939) 
(186,854) 
(235,734) 
(725,527) 

12,094,550 
17,351,674 

4,653 

29.450,877 

9.464,855 
5,520,984 

14,985,839 

911,214 
14,074,625 
14 985 839 
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Estate/Court File No. 31-2131992 

ONTARIO 
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

(COMMERCIAL LIST) 

THE HONOURABLE TI--IURSDA Y, THE 9th 

JUSTICE DAY OF JUNE, 2016 

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO 
MAKE A PROPOSAL OF SHOP.CA NE1WORK INC., a 
corporation incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Canada, 
with a head office in the City of Toronto, in the Province of 
Ontario 

BID PROCESS AND ADMINISTRATION ORDER 

THIS MOTION, 1nade by SHOP.CA Network Inc. ("SHOP.CA") the Bankruptcy mzd 

Insoluency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the ''BIA") for an order, among other things, 

(a) extending the time for SHOP.CA to file a proposal to July 15, 2016; (b) approving the sale 

process (the "Bid Process"); (c) approving the Key En1ployee Retention Agreements (the 

"KERAs") and payment arrangements; and (d) granting the Administration Charge (as 

defined below), was heard this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario. 

ON READING the affidavit of RobertS. Lee sworn June 8, 2016 (the "Lee Affidavit") 

and the exhibits thereto and the First Report dated June 8, 2016 (the "First Report") of the 

Richters Advisory Group Inc., in its capacity as proposal trustee of SHOP.CA (the "Proposal 

Trustee") and on hearing the submissions of counsel for SHOP.CA, counsel for the Proposal 

Trustee and all other counsel appearing on the counsel slip. 

6568582 v-l 
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SERVICE 

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and the 

Motion Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this I'v1otion is properly returnable 

today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof. 

APPROVAL OF THE BID PROCESS 

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Bid Process in respect of SHOP.CA' s assets, 

business and property, as set out in paragraphs 29 - 33 of the First Report, is hereby 

approved and that the Proposal Trustee is hereby authorized and empowered to take such 

steps as are necessary or desirable to carry out the Bid Process, provided that any definitive 

agreement to be executed by SHOP.CA in respect of any transaction resulting therefrom 

shall require further approval of this Court. 

STAY EXTENSION 

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for SIIOP.CA's filing a proposal (the 

"Proposal Period"), and the stay of proceedings herein, is hereby extended in accordance 

with subsection 50.4(9) of the Bankruptcy tmd l1l5olucncy Act R.S.C. 1985 c. B-3, as a1nended 

(the "BIA"), to and including July 15,2016. 

APPROVAL OF THE KERAS 

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Key Employee Retention Agreements (the 

"KERAs") attached as Confidential Exhibit "A" of the Lee Affidavit are hereby ratified and 

that SHOP.CA is hereby authorized and empowered to perform its obligation thereunder 

and to make the payments in accordance with the terms set out the KERAs. 

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the funds adequate to satisfy the Incentive Payments 

(as that term is defined in the KERAs) minus any deferred amounts shall be paid by 

6)685H2 v-1 



,..., 
- .) -

SHOP.CA to Stiketnan Elliott LLP, as counsel to SHOP.CA ("Company's Counsel"), to be 

held in trust for the beneficiaries of the KERAs. The amounts owing under the KERAs shall 

be paid by Company's Counsel to the beneficiaries of the KERAs upon satisfaction of the 

conditions contained in the KERAs as detennined by the Proposal Trustee or upon further 

Order of this Court. 

6. THIS COURT ORDERS if after 10 business days of the expiry of the Proposal Period 

(i) the conditions contained in the KERAs are not satisfied; and (ii) the funds held by 

Company's Counsel on account of the Incentive Payments have not otherwise been paid to 

the beneficiaries of the KERAs, the funds held by Company's Counsel on account of the 

Incentive Payments shall be paid to the Proposal Trustee. 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the unredacted versions of the KERAs filed with the 

Court shall not form part of the public record and shall be kept confidential and under seal 

until further Order of this Court. 

ADMINISTRATION CHARGE 

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee 

and Company's Counsel shall be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case 

at their standard rates and charges, by SHOP.CA as part of the costs of these proceedings. 

SHOP.CA is hereby authorized and directed to pay the accounts of the Proposal Trustee, 

counsel for the Proposal Trustee and Company's Counsel on a weekly basis or as such 

accounts are otherwise rendered. 

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Proposal Trustee and its legal counsel shall pass 

their accounts from titne to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Proposal Trustee 
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and its legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario 

Superior Court of Justice. 

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee 

and Company's Counsel shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a first 

ranking charge (the "Administration Charge") on SHOP.CA's current and future assets, 

undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate 

including all proceeds thereof (the "Property"), which charge shall not exceed $200,000, as 

security for their professional fees and disbursements incurred at the standard rates and 

charges of the Proposal Trustee, counsel to the Proposal Trustee and Company's Counsel, 

both before and after SHOP.CA filing its Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal under the 

BIA. 

rJ. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Administration Charge shall constitute a charge on 

the Property and such charge shall rank ahead in priority to all other security interests, 

trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise 

(collectively, "Encumbrances") in favour of any person, except for the Encumbrances in 

favour of those that have not been served with notice of this Motion. SHOP.CA and the 

beneficiaries of the Administration Charge shall be entitled, if necessary, to seek priority 

ahead of any Encumbrances in favour of any person that have not been served with notice of 

this i\.1otion and that are likely to be affected by such priority. 

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the 

Administration Charge shall not be required, and that the Administration Charge shall be 

valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed, 

656H582 v-t 
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registered, recorded or perfected subsequent to the Adtninistration Charge coming into 

existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or perfect. 

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Administration Charge shall not be rendered 

invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to the benefit of 

the Administration Charge thereunder shall not otherwise be limited or impaired in any way 

by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the declarations of insolvency (expressly or 

impliedly) made herein; (b) any motion(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued pursuant to BIA, or 

any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such motion(s); (c) any assignn1ents for the general 

benefit of creditors made or deemed to have been made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the 

provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or 

other sin1ilar provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of 

Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or 

other agreement (collectively, an "Agreetnent") which binds SHOP.CA, and 

notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any Agreement: 

(a) neither the creation of the Administration Charge nor the payments made in 

accordance with the KERAs shall create or be deemed to constitute a breach by 

SHOP.CA of any Agreement to which it is a party; 

(b) none of the employees who are parties to the KERAs or chargees entitled to the 

benefit of the Adn1inistration Charge shall have any liability to any Person 

whatsoever as a result of any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting 

from SHOP.CA making payments in accordance with the KERAs, the creation of 

the Adn1inistration Charge or the execution, delivery or performance of any 

related docmnents; and 
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(c) the payments made by SrlOP.CA pursuant to this Order, and the granting of the 

Adn1inistration Charge, do not and will not constitute preferences, fraudulent 

conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or other challengeable 

or voidable transactions under any applicable law. 

SERVICE AND NOTICE 

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the 

"Protocol") is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service 

of docmnents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Con1mcrcial 

List website at http:// www.ontariocourts.ca/ scVpractice/ practice-directions/ toronto/ e­

service-protocol/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05, this Order shall 

constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil 

Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules c~l Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the 

Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on 

transtnission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in 

accordance with the Protocol with the following URL 

'http:// www.richter.ca/ en/ folder/ insolvency-cases/ sj shop-ca-network-inc'. 

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in 

accordance ·with the Protocol is not practicable, the Proposal Trustee is at liberty to serve or 

distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or 

other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, 

personal delivery or facsimile transtnission to SHOP.CA's creditors or other interested 

parties at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of SHOP.CA and that any 

such service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be 
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deetned to be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or 

if sent by ordinary n1ail, on the third business day after mailing. 

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Proposal Trustee, SHOP.CA and their respective 

counsel, are at liberty to service or distribute this Order, any materials and orders as may be 

reasonably required in these proceedings including any notices, or other correspondence, by 

forwarding true copies thereof by electronic message to SHOP.CA' s creditors or other 

interested parties and their advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service 

shall be dee1ned to be in satisfaction of a legal or juridical obligation, and notice 

requirements within the meaning of clause 3(c) of the Electronic Cmnmerce Protection 

Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS). 

GENERAL 

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Proposal Trustee shall not take possession of the 

Property and shall take no part whatsoever in management or supervision of the 

management of the business of SHOP.CA and shall not, in carrying out the Bid Process, 

otherwise fulfilling its obligations hereunder or under the BIA, be deemed to have taken 

possession or control of the business of SHOP.CA or the Property, or any part thereof. 

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that that the Proposal Trustee shall provide any creditor of 

SHOP.CA with information provided by SHOP.CA in response to reasonable requests for 

information tnade in writing by such creditor addressed to the Proposal Trustee. The 

Proposal Trustee shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information 

disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Proposal 

has been advised by SHOP.CA or Company's Counsel is confidential, the Proposal Trustee 
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shall not provide such information to creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on 

such terms as the Proposal Trustee and the SHOP.CA n1ay agree. 

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the 

Proposal Trustee under the BIA or as an officer of this Court, the Proposal Trustee shall incur 

no liability or obligation as a result of its appointrrtent, carrying out of the Bid Process, in 

respect of any detennination regarding release of payments under the KERAs or carrying 

out any provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross negligence or vvilful 

misconduct on its part. Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded 

the Proposal Trustee by the BIA or any applicable legislation. 

20. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, 

regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada, to give effect to this Order 

and to assist SHOP.CA and the Proposal Trustee and their respective agents in carrying out 

the tern1s of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are 

hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to 

SHOP.CA and the Proposal Trustee, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or 

desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist SHOP.CA, the Proposal Trustee and their 

respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. 

2'1. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including SHOP.CA and the 

Proposal Trustee) may apply to this court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven 

(7) days notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the order sought or upon 

such other notice, if any, as this Court may order. 
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